
 

 

CITY OF NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION 
SPECIAL SESSION AGENDA 
North Plains Senior Center 
31450 NW Commercial Street 
MONDAY July 27, 2015 - 7:00 P.M. 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 

2. FLAG SALUTE 
 

3. ROLL CALL 
 
4. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

(This time is provided for questions or statements by persons in the audience on any item 
of Planning Commission business, except those items that appear on this agenda. 
Comments shall be limited as determined by the Chairperson.) 

 
5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Review and approval of May 13, 2015, Regular 

Session Minutes 
 
6. PUBLIC HEARING 

A. Quasi-judicial public hearing on application received from Zarosinski 
Engineering and Design, File No. 15-036 Design Review, on behalf of Jewett-
Cameron Lumber Products, to construct a warehouse building and covered 
loading area located at 32275 NW Hillcrest in North Plains, Oregon 

B. Quasi-judicial public hearing on application received from Laurie A. Verboort, 
File No. 15-037 for a minor partition dividing property located at 11440 NW 
Gordon Road, North Plains, Oregon, into two lots. 

 
7. NEW BUSINESS 

A. Approval of Proposed Street Naming in the McKay Creek Crossing 
Development 

 
8. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 None Scheduled 
 
9. COMMISSIONER COMMENTS 
 

10. STAFF COMMENTS 
 

11. ADJOURNMENT 
 

The Planning Commission meetings are normally held at the North Plains Senior Center, 
31450 NW Commercial Street, North Plains, Oregon. Meetings will be held on the following 

dates at 7:00 p.m. Meeting location is subject to change. 
 

Wednesday, August 12, 2015 Wednesday, Sept. 9, 2015 Wednesday, October 14, 2015 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 1 of 101



CITY OF NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION.  
REGULAR SESSION MINUTES 
May 13, 2015, 7:00 P.M. 
North Plains Senior Center 
31450 NW Commercial Street 
 
1. Chairperson King called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 
2. The pledge of allegiance was led by Chairperson King. 
 
3. ROLL CALL 

Members: Chair Stewart King, Vice Chair Heather LaBonte, Doug Nunnenkamp, 
Garth Eimers, Larry Gonzales and Lonnie Knodel. 

Ex-Officio: City Councilor Charlynn Newton 
Staff: Planning Consultant Heather Austin, 3J Consulting, Inc.; David 

Doughman, Beery Elsner and Hammond LLP; Public Works Director 
Blake Boyles; City Recorder Margaret Reh 

 
4. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 None were forthcoming. 
 
5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 A.  Approval of the April 8, 2015, Regular Session Minutes. 
 
Motion by LaBonte. Second by Eimers to approve the April 8, 2015, Regular Session Minutes 
as amended. Motion was approved unanimously. 
 
6. PUBLIC HEARING  

A. Legislative Hearing: 15-031 Receive comments regarding proposed 
amendments to the Municipal Code Chapter 16 (Zoning and Development): 
Submitted to DLCD in 2014: 16.05, 16.60, 16.125, 16.140, 16.170 and 16.205. 
Submitted to DLCD in 2015 and 16.20, 16.25, 16.30 and 16.45. 

 
King requested the reading of the legislative hearing process statement for the two legislative 
public hearings before the Commission this evening. Following the reading of the rules, King 
opened the Public Hearing at 7:04 p.m. for File No: 15-031 which are amendments to 
Municipal Code Chapter 16 which were submitted to DLCD. King stated Chapters 16.60; 
16.170; 16.205 and 16.45 were removed from this public hearing. King stated there were 
modifications that were slight changes to what had been previously submitted in Chapter 
16.05-Definitions which added a description for a tax lot. Also a minor change was submitted 
to 16.125 and minor changes in 16.30, which are reflected in an Addendum to the Public 
Hearing that was introduced to the Commission at this public hearing. 
 
King asked for staff comments. Heather Austin, Consultant from 3J, stated that staff was not 
as aware of the project as the Commission due to the recent changes at City Hall. 
 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 2 of 101



City of North Plains Planning Commission 
May 13, 2015, Regular Session Minutes 
Page 2 of 6 
 
King asked if anyone was willing to testify to the public hearing. None were forthcoming. 
 
King asked if there were any further comments from the Commissioners. There were none. 
 
King closed public hearing at 7:06. 
 
Motion by Gonzales. Second by Fage recommending the approval of the changes to those 
chapters identified to be moved on to City Council. Motion was passed unanimously. 
 

B. Legislative Hearing: File No: 15-002 Eggiman Property Comprehensive Plan 
proposed zone change from Commercial to R-2.5 Residential 

 
King opened the public hearing at 7:07 p.m. on File No: 15-002 Eggiman Property-proposed 
Comprehensive Plan map and zone change from Commercial to R-2.5 Residential. Austin 
presented the staff report that goes over the criteria for the zone change. The proposal 
includes a Comprehensive Plan designation from Commercial to High-Density Residential 
and a zoning code map amendment from Commercial to R-2.5. Austin explained a 
discrepancy between the Comprehensive Plan and the Zoning Code regarding this subject 
property exists. Austin covered transportation issues. There was a new written public 
testimony sheet received and distributed at the meeting that addressed the access to the 
property on Kaybern. Austin explained that access points is not a topic of discussion with this 
application. 
 
King asked if there were any questions from the Commissioners for staff. LaBonte inquired 
about the housing inventory stock and the mix of residential housing zones. Discussion 
ensued regarding the percentage of housing inventory stock that is now high density. 
 
King asked the applicant to come forward. Mike Eggiman, 22865 NW Yungen Road, 
Hillsboro, Oregon 97124 and Ken Sandblast, 15115 SW Sequoia Parkway, Suite 150, 
Tigard, Oregon 97224, presented their application. Sandblast pointed out the slope of the 
properties in his report and referred to exhibits in the Agenda Packet. Sandblast pointed out 
that flat land is more desirable for commercial property. Eggiman reminded the Commission 
that he had appeared before the Commission a few months prior to this public hearing to see 
if the Commission would be open to this project. This proposed project is consistent with the 
other R-2.5 neighborhoods. However, this development could be laid out with larger 4000 sq. 
ft. lots to allow for more parking in the development. The property is targeted to serve the 
community and that is the desire of the applicant. The applicant has been approached by 
some smaller grocery store chains that would be interested in the remaining 5.6 acres that 
would still be zoned commercial. Sandblast also acknowledged the comment from Troutman 
regarding the access road north of the property. This is a public right-of-way that could end 
up serving an access for any type of development that goes in and will be subject to 
improvements.  
 
King called for questions from the Commissioners. LaBonte asked about the different sized 
lots that are a part of this subject property. Discussion ensued. A question was raised 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 3 of 101



City of North Plains Planning Commission 
May 13, 2015, Regular Session Minutes 
Page 3 of 6 
 
regarding the frontage on Kaybern, the slope of the property, the viability of the land, and the 
orientation of a grocery store on the property. Discussion ensued. The concern of the 
Commission is that the city will be losing too much commercial property with the approval of 
this zone change application. They feel the city has too little commercial property to give up 
this acreage. 
 
King asked for any other comments from the public. Hearing none, King closed the public 
hearing at 7:35. 
 
Motion by Nunnenkamp. Second by Eimers to make a recommendation to the City Council to 
deny the conditions of this application of a zone change from commercial to R-2.5 residential 
to a date certain of June 15, 2015. Motion was approved unanimously. 
 

C. Quasi-Judicial Hearing: File No: 15-032-31500 NW Cottage Lot Line 
Adjustment and Variance to Lot Width Standard 

 
King requested the reading of the quasi-judicial hearing process statement. King opened the 
Public Hearing at 7:44 p.m. for File No: 15-032 for a Lot Line Adjustment and Variance to Lot 
Width Standard. King called for abstentions, ex parte contacts or any conflicts of interest by any 
Planning Commissioner. Hearing none, he asked if the audience had questions for, or 
objections to, any Commissioners. Hearing none, King asked for the Staff Report which Austin 
presented. Discussion ensued. 
 
King called the applicant forward. Kent Campbell, PO Box 526, Hillsboro, Oregon and Tim 
Graber, 18735 NW Dixie Mountain Road presented their application. King called for questions 
of the Commissioners. Discussion ensued. 
 
King opened the meeting to proponents. None were forthcoming. King asked for opponents.  
 
Glen Woodward, 31525 NW Cottage Street. Woodward questioned how long the lot width in 
this area has been at 40 feet. Woodward has lived in the area since 1970 and always knew the 
lot dimensions to have been 50 x 100. King stated that there could have been an assumption 
that it was 50 x 100 from the 1910 plat, but the code has the minimum lot width to be 40 feet. 
The Code is changing and on-going. Chair King stated that someone from staff will look into 
when the code was changed to a 40 foot frontage. Discussion ensued regarding lot width and 
lot size. 
 
Cliff Graham, 31525 NW Claxtar, is concerned about population density and the affect it is 
having on the assets of the town—the school and the police services. He also stated that a 
narrow two story house will create the effect that he is living in a fish bowl. He would not have 
an objection to tearing down the existing dwelling and putting up two single story houses. The 
plan submitted at this meeting would eliminate his last illusion of privacy. It is a real concern. 
He is asking leadership of the city to deny a request for this variance. He stated it will diminish 
the value of his property. He asked if it possible to request that no windows would be facing his 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 4 of 101



City of North Plains Planning Commission 
May 13, 2015, Regular Session Minutes 
Page 4 of 6 
 
property. A new structure would make his backyard an unpleasant place. Discussion ensued. 
 
Tony Grant, 31495 NW Cottage Street strongly opposed the proposal. These lots were platted 
to be 50 x 100 and they should stay that way. Granting this variance may set precedence for 
more 33 foot frontages. Discussion ensued. 
 
Don Bender, 31615 NW Cottage Street, commented that the owner/applicant had to have 
known the house was built on two lots when they purchased the property. His house is on two 
lots. This would be setting a precedence. He stated the applicant is just doing this to make 
money. Bender stated what would stop him from dividing his lot into a weird angle and selling 
it off. Keep North Plains, North Plains. Discussion ensued. 
 
Dale Herinckx, 31206 NW Claxtar Street. His house is also built on the property line in 1965. 
His dwelling is on a 10,000 sq. ft. lot. He stated the city should maintain some of the larger lots 
in town. If a property was purchased with the dimension of 100 x 100 he feels it should be kept 
that way even if the Code says a lot dimension could be 50 x 100. Large lots will become very 
scarce and will become a commodity. He also mentioned there needs to be room for property 
owners to be able to park an RV. 
 
Jim Warren, 10515 NW Main Street stated that these lots were platted 100 years ago. His family 
has been on this property for over 75 years. We have lived with existing zones throughout those 
years. He feels it is disrespectful to past generations, who established these lot dimensions, to 
change things around. He stated the applicant must have known the house was on two lots 
when it was purchased. 
 
Marianne Vandervelden, 31585 NW Cottage Street, inquired about the intent of ownership 
when the property was purchased. Campbell requested permission to address the inquiry. The 
property was purchased in 2006.Ten years prior, when it was purchased, the Code for the R-5 
zone would allow two duplexes on the property. Campbell was continuing to explain the intent 
when Chair King interrupted him and asked Campbell if he would wait and continue his answer 
during the rebuttal.  
 
Discussion ensued regarding the designation and allowed uses in the R-5 zone. 
 
Kathy Nelson 10545 SW 314th, gave a brief history of issues with the house that the previous 
renters had with the property and the landlord. Nelson also raised the topic of the poor drainage 
on the property. 
 
King asked for any other comments for or against. Hearing none he asked the applicant for the 
rebuttal. 
 
Campbell addressed the stormwater issue by stating it will be set up to drain to the roadside 
ditch after which CWS stormwater system would take over. As far as having a space for RV 
storage, Campbell stated that not everyone is affluent enough to own an RV and not everyone 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 5 of 101



City of North Plains Planning Commission 
May 13, 2015, Regular Session Minutes 
Page 5 of 6 
 
needs RV storage on their property but there are many individuals who would just like to be 
able to afford a house. He also addressed the comment regarding a new structure being a two 
story house--if the developer were to tear the existing house down, two two-story dwellings 
could be built. In regard to the density issue being brought up, the developer will not be build 
more than two houses. Campbell stated the property owner would prefer to have owner 
occupied homes and not make them rental homes. Another option would be to remodel the 
existing house into a duplex. Discussion ensued. 
 
King asked for any further discussion. 
 
King closed the public hearing at 8:34 p.m. 
 
Motion by Eimers. Second by Gonzales to deny the application for File No.15-032 Lot Line 
Adjustment and Variance of lot width request. King asked for any discussion. Doughman asked 
for some articulation as to why the move for denial so staff could prepare the final written order. 
Discussion ensued. The motion carried unanimously and staff was instructed to prepare finding 
and conclusions in a final written order. 
 
7. NEW BUSINESS 
 

A. Review of Land Use/Building Permit Project List 
 
The Commission received a copy of the updated monthly project list. 
 
8. UNFINISHED BUSINESS  
 

A. Discussion of Residential Design Guidelines (Hierarchy List) 
 

Eimers stated he is working on this report. He has been doing a lot of reading. His findings 
will only apply to R-2.5, R-5 and R-7.5 zones at this time. When the Commission comes to 
some type of agreement it can be extended to some other areas. This is in the drafting stage 
he has stopped reading. He will submit his documentation to staff by the end of the week. 
 
The Planning Commission will conduct another Workshop. At the public hearing tonight, the 
Commission pulled out different chapters from the public hearing to do more work on them.  A 
workshop will take place on Wednesday, June 3 at 6:00 p.m. This workshop would be to 
review Chapters 16.60, 16.170, 16.205 and 16.45. King would also like to include 16.140 
street standards and public street standards. The Commission will also review and discuss 
the hierarchy list, TSP and public works street standards. Discussion ensued regarding the 
process with the code changes and DLCD processes. 

 
Austin informed the Commission that the applicant for McKay Creek Crossing had contacted 
her regarding the street naming in the development. Discussion ensued. Austin will instruct 
applicant to fill out an application for street naming. 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 6 of 101



City of North Plains Planning Commission 
May 13, 2015, Regular Session Minutes 
Page 6 of 6 
 

 
9. COMMISSIONER COMMENTS 
 
Eimers stated he had concerns regarding the layout of the development that Eggiman was 
proposing. There was not a break point for street length. This led to a discussion regarding 
needing a definition of a block. 
 
Nunnenkamp inquired of the possibility of the Planning Commission receiving notice of 
applications that are being approved administratively. Discussion ensued. Boyles will forward 
the decisions of administrative approvals to the Planning Commission. 
 
10. STAFF COMMENTS 

None were forthcoming. 
 

11. ADJOURNMENT. 
 
Chairperson King adjourned the meeting at 8:55 p.m. The Commission will meet for a 
workshop on Wednesday, June 3, 2015 at 6:00. The next scheduled regular session of the 
Planning Commission is tentatively set for Wednesday, June 10, 2015, which is currently 
scheduled to be held at the North Plains Senior Center. 
 
Submitted by: 
 
 
____________________________ 
Margaret L. Reh, City Recorder 
 
 
Date Minutes Approved: ________________ 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 7 of 101



File 15-036 Jewett-Cameron Industrial Building Design Review Page 1 

 

 
CITY OF NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO. 6A  
 
Subject: Jewett-Cameron Industrial Building 
From: Heather Austin, AICP, Consulting Land Use Planner 
 
 
 

City Staff Report 
July 20, 2015 

 
City File: #15-036 

 
Application Purpose: An application for approval of a 12,000 square foot 

industrial building.  This building is an extension of 
the Jewett-Cameron Lumber Products site. 

 
Public Hearing Date: July 27, 2015 

 
Applicant: Zarosinski Engineering & Design, Inc. 

1400 NW 155th Circle 
Vancouver, WA  98685 
Contact:  Dean Zarosinski 

 
Property Owner: Jewett Cameron Lumber Products, Inc. 

PO Box 1010 
North Plains, OR  97133 

 
 
Site Location: 32275 NW Hillcrest Street 
 
Tax Lot:                                        1N301CB00100 and 1N301CA01700 

 
Size: 6.34 acres 

City Land Use Classification:  M-2 (General Industrial) 

Pre-Application Meeting Date:  None 
Application Submitted:                  April 15, 2015 
Application Deemed Complete: June 16, 2015 
Public Notice mailed:                    June 16, 2015 
Public Notice Published:                July 8, 2015 
120-Day Deadline:               October 14, 2015 

 
 
 
 

EXHIBITS   
1. Applicant’s submitted materials 

 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 8 of 101



File 15-036 Jewett-Cameron Industrial Building Design Review Page 2 

 

 
REQUEST 

 

 
The Applicant requests design review approval for construction of a 12,000 square foot 
warehouse building and associated covered loading area.  This request is subject to a Type 
III process for quasi-judicial review by the Planning Commission. The proposed industrial 
building is an addition to the site owned and developed by Jewett-Cameron Lumber 
Products, Inc.   

 

Summary Conclusions 

 
The City accepts many of the Applicant’s findings. Areas where information was missing 
from the Applicant’s submittal or inconsistent with code criteria have been addressed with 
a recommended condition of approval of the design reivew application.  

 
SITE DESCRIPTION  

The property is located on the north side of NW Hillcrest Street just east of W Gordon 
Road. The project site is 6.34 acres and is located within the City of North Plain.  The 
property is zoned M-2 for General Industrial development and is developed with 
warehousing, offices, parking and loading.   
 
The Jewett-Cameron site is comprised of portions of blocks 8 and 10, two sections of 
vacated public right-of-way, and all of block 9 of the original plat of North Plains.  Each 
block is comprised of 16 individual lots, all measuring 50’x 100’ in size.  There is no 
evidence of a replat for this site since the 1910 plat.  However, deed research through 
Washington County found that the site was first recorded as one parcel in 1941, indicating 
lot consolidation prior to current land use laws.  Since then, several deed changes and 
vacations of right-of-way have occurred, creating the lots on which the Jewett-Cameron 
Lumber Company sits.   
 

Compliance with City of North Plains Municipal Code 
 
ZONES 
  
16.55 ZONING DISTRICT M-2 General Industrial District 
 
16.55.005 Permitted Uses 
Permitted uses are subject to the requirements of the Design Review section of this    
chapter, if applicable. Refer to Zoning Code Use Table. 

 
R.  Warehousing 

 
Finding:  This application is for a 12,000 square foot warehouse building.  This staff 
report is written for the design review of this proposal.  The proposed warehousing 
building is permitted in the M-2 zone. 

 
16.55.015 Limitations on Use  
The following conditions and limitations apply to development in the M-2 District.  
 
A. Vehicular Access  
1. Access points to an industrial site shall be located to minimize traffic congestion 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 9 of 101



File 15-036 Jewett-Cameron Industrial Building Design Review Page 3 

 

and, to the extent possible, to avoid directing traffic into residential areas.  
2. Where possible within industrial districts, access shall be designed to serve more 
than one industrial site.  
 
B. Landscaping  
1. Properties abutting a residential zone shall provide and maintain a dense evergreen 
landscape buffer that will attain a mature height of at least seven feet or such other 
screening measures as may be prescribed by the Commission in the event differences 
in elevation should defeat the purpose of this requirement.  
2. Yards adjacent to streets shall be planted and continuously maintained with lawn, 
shrubs or trees suited to the site and climate.  
3. Other yards and unused property shall be maintained in grass or other suitable 
ground cover. 

 
 

Finding:  The access points are existing to this site and are functioning adequately.  No 
additional access is proposed.  The site abuts a residential zone (R-2.5) to the north.  
There is a mature row of arborvitae that aligns the northern border of this site in addition 
to grass and street trees, separating it from the residential zone.   There is landscaping 
separating the yard abutting NW Hillcrest on the west end of the property, near the water quality facility.  This 
area includes grass and ornamental cherry trees.  The remaining portions of the yard are separated by an existing 
fence.  The water quality facility on the west end of this site is densely planted.  All other portions of this site 
are used for the Jewett-Cameron operations. 
 
16.55.020 Dimensional Standards The following dimensional standards shall be the 
minimum requirement for all development in the M-2 District except for modifications 
permitted under the Lot, Building, & Yard Exceptions or the Planned Unit Development 
sections of this chapter.  
 
A. Lot Size  
1. The minimum lot size shall be 5,000 square feet. 2. The minimum lot width shall be 
50 feet at the front building line.  
 
B. Setback Requirements  
 

1.  Front Yard 
Adjacent to a Residential Zone                                    20 feet 
Adjacent to any other zone                                         None required 

 2.  Side Yard 
 

Adjacent to a Residential Zone                                    20 feet  

Adjacent to any other zone                                          None required 
Adjacent to street                                                       20 feet 

3.  Rear Yard 
 

Adjacent to a Residential Zone                                    20 feet  

Adjacent to any other zone                                          None required 
Adjacent to street                                                       20 feet 

 

 
Finding:  The proposed warehouse building is located on the northern portion of the 
property, adjacent to the R-2.5 residential zone.  For this reason, a 20-foot setback is 
required and is shown on the proposed plans.  No other setbacks are required. This standard 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 10 of 101



File 15-036 Jewett-Cameron Industrial Building Design Review Page 4 

 

is met as the building is proposed to meet all setbacks. 
 
C. Height of Buildings  
Buildings in the M-2 District shall not exceed a height of 80 feet. 
 
Finding:  The proposed building is 37 feet tall and, as such, meets this standard.   
 

16.55.025 Parking Requirements  
Off-street parking and loading requirements for industrial uses are specified in the Off 
Street Parking and Loading of this ordinance. 
 
Finding:  Parking and loading are addressed in Section 16.155, below.   
 

STANDARDS FOR DEVELOPMENT 
 
16.145 PUBLIC FACILITY AND SERVICE REQUIREMENTS 

 
16.145.005 Application of Public Facility Standards 
The provisions of Chapter 16.145 Public Facility and Service Requirements shall apply to 
development within the City of North Plains as listed in the following table. No 
development permit shall be approved unless the following required improvements are 
provided to City standards prior to occupancy or operation unless an exception is approved 
by the City Council per Chapter 16.145.020 or future provision of the improvement is 
assured per Chapter 16.145.030. 
 
Finding:  This site is fully developed with the industrial use.  Frontage improvements on 
all frontages are complete as installed by the property owner with earlier developments.  
The City does not find any lack of public facilities serving the site. This standard is met. 
 

16.145.010 Public Facility Standards 
The following public facility standards shall be applicable to all development as 
specified in the Application Review section of this chapter. 

 
A.  Streets: Street improvements required by Chapter 16.145.005 Public Facility & Service 
Standards shall be provided in compliance with Street Standards of this ordinance. 

 
Finding: Streets are discussed in detail in Section 16.150, further in this report.   
 
B.  Storm Drainage: No development permit shall be approved for any property until the City 
Engineer has reviewed and approved provisions for storm water drainage in accordance with 
the following criteria: 
1.  For storm drainage across or over the property on which the development is located, 
there are storm drainage facilities available which are capable of handling a one-hundred 
year flood without damage to any improvement on the property, or inundation of the lowest 
habitable floor of any residential structure thereon. 
2.  For storm drainage along or from streets adjacent to the property on which the 
development is located, there are storm drainage facilities available in accordance with 
the City of North Plains adopted street standard. 

 
Finding: All storm drainage from this site is conveyed to the water quality facility on the 
west side of the site.  No changes are proposed to this facility.  The proposed building will 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 11 of 101



File 15-036 Jewett-Cameron Industrial Building Design Review Page 5 

 

be located in a site that is currently paved and, as such, no increase in stormwater runoff 
will occur.  This standard is met. 

 
C. Sewage Disposal: No development permit shall be approved until the City Engineer and 
Clean Water Services has reviewed and approved provisions for connection to the public 
sewer system. 

 
Finding:  While the site is adequately served by public sanitary sewer service, there is no 
sanitary sewer proposed for the new warehouse building.  As there are no proposed 
connections to the public sewer system, this criterion is not applicable. 

  
D.  Water Supply: No development permit shall be approved for any property unless all 
affected water mains are either: 
1.  Fully improved to a standard providing both adequate potable water and fire flows, as 
established by the applicable State Plumbing Code and approved by the City Engineer; 
or 
2.  Improved to a standard providing adequate potable water flows pursuant to the City 
Water Master Plan and approved by the City Engineer and the Fire Chief for Washington 
County Fire District No. 2. 

 
Finding: While the submitted narrative does not specifically address water service, public 
water is available to the site.  Because this is a warehouse use and the narrative 
specifically states that the building will not have sanitary sewer service, it is likely water 
service is not proposed. 
 

16.145.120  Methods to Assure Facilities and Services 

A legal and enforceable document, contract or process which assures the City that a public 
improvement will be accomplished is required. Assurances may include but are not 
limited to the following: 
A. Cash in escrow, assignment of letter of credit, etc.  
B. Establishment of a Local Improvement District (LID) through the post- remonstrance 
period. Failure of the City to accept the LID shall constitute a waiver of the assurance 
requirement. 
C. Evidence of formal action by public or private agencies or companies, including the 
City of North Plains, appropriating monies for the requisite public improvement. 
D. Any other legally binding arrangement that assures the improvements will be made 
within the required time frame, including: 
1.  Phasing of the development; 
2.  Construction of interim improvements; 
3.  Construction of improvements on a phased basis. 

 
Finding:  If any public improvements are required, the City will require la legal and 
enforceable document, contract or process to ensure public improvement completion.  
This generally occurs prior to issuance of building permits.   

 
16.145.130   Requirement for Public Work Permit 

No person, firm or corporation shall commence construction of improvements within a 
public right-of-way or upon public property without first obtaining a Public Works 
Construction Permit on a form or forms provided by the City. 

 
Finding: The applicant is required to obtain permits from the City of North Plains or 

Washington County, as applicable, for any work performed in the right of way. 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 12 of 101



File 15-036 Jewett-Cameron Industrial Building Design Review Page 6 

 

 
16.150 STREET STANDARDS 

 
16.150.010 GENERAL PROVISIONS 

The following general provisions shall apply to the dedication, construction, improvement 
or other development of all public streets in the City of North Plains: 
A.  The location, width, and grade of streets shall be considered in their relation to existing 
and planned streets, to topographical conditions, to public convenience and safety, and to 
the proposed use of the land to be served by the streets. 
B.  Development proposals shall provide for the continuation of existing principal streets 
where necessary to promote appropriate traffic circulation in the vicinity of the 
development. 

 
C.  Reserve strips: Reserve strips or street plugs controlling the access to streets will not be 
approved unless necessary for the protection of the public welfare or of substantial 
property rights, and in these cases they may be required. The control and disposal of the 
land composing such strips shall be placed within the jurisdiction of the City under 
conditions approved by the Planning Commission. 

 
Finding: This site is adjacent to fully developed and, in some cases, vacated right-of-
way.  No additional continuation of public right-of-way is necessary adjacent to this site.  
No reserve strips are proposed.  These standards are met. 

 
D.  Alignment: All streets other than minor streets or cul-de-sacs, as far as practical, shall 
be in alignment with existing streets by continuation of the center lines thereof. The 
staggering of street alignments resulting in "T" intersections shall, wherever practical, 
leave a minimum distance of 200 feet between the center lines of streets having 
approximately the same direction and otherwise shall not be less than 100 feet. 
E. Future extension of streets: Where necessary to give access to or permit a satisfactory 
future development of adjoining land, streets shall be extended to the boundary of a tract 
being developed and the resulting dead-end streets may be approved without turnarounds. 
Reserve strips and street plugs may be required to preserve the objectives of street 
extensions. 
F.  Intersection angles: Streets shall be laid out to intersect at angles as near to right 
angles as practical, except where topography requires lesser angle, but in no case shall 
the acute angle be less than 80 degrees unless there is a special intersection design. An 
arterial or collector street intersecting with another street shall have at least 100 feet 
of centerline tangent adjacent to the intersection unless topography requires a lesser 
distance. Other streets, except alleys, shall have at least 50 feet of tangent adjacent to 
the intersection unless topography requires a lesser distance. Intersections which contain 
an acute angle of less than 80 degrees or which include an arterial or collector street shall 
have a minimum corner radius sufficient to allow for a roadway radius of 20 feet and 
maintain a uniform width between the roadway and the right-of-way line. All other 
intersections shall have a minimum corner radius sufficient to allow for a roadway radius 
of 10 feet and maintain a uniform width between the roadway and the right-of-way line. 
Ordinarily, the intersection of more than two streets at any one point will not be approved. 

 
Finding: Subsections D., E. and F., above, apply to developments proposing or required 
to construct new streets.  These standards are not applicable as no new streets are 
proposed or necessary to serve this development. 

 
G. Existing streets: Whenever existing public streets adjacent to or within a tract are of 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 13 of 101



File 15-036 Jewett-Cameron Industrial Building Design Review Page 7 

 

inadequate width, additional right-of-way shall be provided at the time of subdivision or 
development. 

 
Finding:  All existing streets are of adequate width.  This standard is met. 

 
H.  Cul-de-sacs: Cul-de-sacs shall be as short as possible, and shall have maximum lengths 
of 600 feet and shall not serve more than 20 dwelling units. All cul-de- sacs shall terminate 
with circular turnarounds. Commercial and industrial cul- de-sacs shall have a minimum 
55' bulb radius. Additional cul-de sac specifications, including specifications for residential 
cul-de-sacs, are contained within the most recently adopted public works/street 
standards of the City of North Plains and/or Washington County development standards. 
I.   Street names: No street names shall be used which will duplicate or be confused with 
the names of existing streets, except for extensions of existing streets. Street names and 
number shall conform to the established pattern in the City and shall be subject to the 
approval of the Planning Commission. 

J.  Grades and curves: Grades shall not exceed 6 percent on arterials, 10 percent on 
collector streets or 12 percent on any other street. Center line radii of curves shall not be 
less than 300 feet on arterials, 200 feet on collectors or 100 feet on other streets, and 
shall be to an even 10 feet. Where existing conditions, particularly topography, make 
it otherwise impractical to provide buildable sites, the Planning Commission may accept 
steeper grades and sharper curves. In flat areas, allowance shall be made for finished 
street grades having a minimum slope of 0.5 percent. 

 
Finding:  Subsections H., I. and J. above apply to developments proposing new streets 
and are therefore not applicable. 

 
K. Marginal access streets: If a development abuts or contains an existing or proposed 
arterial street, the Planning Commission may require marginal access streets, reverse 
frontage lots with suitable depth, screen planting contained in a non-access reservation 
along the rear or side property line, or such other treatment as may be necessary for 
adequate protection of residential properties and to afford separation of through and local 
traffic. 

 
Finding: The property does not abut or contain an existing or proposed arterial street 
and, therefore, this criterion is not applicable to this proposal. 

 
L.  Alleys: Alleys shall be provided in commercial and industrial districts unless other 
permanent provisions for access to off-street parking and loading facilities are made as 
approved by the Planning Commission. While alley intersections and sharp changes in 
alignment shall be avoided, the corners of necessary alley intersections shall have radii of 
not less than 10 feet. 

 
Finding: Access to off-street parking is provided permanently via the existing driveways.  
This standard is met without the addition of alleys to the site. 

 
M. Sidewalks shall be a minimum of five feet in width. Curbs and sidewalks shall be 
required along both sides of all public streets. All new development upon lots, tracts or 
parcels of land adjacent to a public street will be required to construct curbs and sidewalks. 

 
Finding:   This site is within the industrial district across from a Superfund site.  The roadways to 
the north and south have been vacated.  The property owner has installed street trees and 
landscaping along the frontage which is acceptable to the City.  No additional frontage improvements 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 14 of 101



File 15-036 Jewett-Cameron Industrial Building Design Review Page 8 

 

are proposed or required.    

 
N.  Street trees, where provided, shall not be of a species which has a shallow 
spreading root system which is likely to disturb sidewalk or street improvements. 
 
Finding:   Street trees are present along the right-of-way on the north side of the property and 
along portions of the southern boundary of the site.  These trees are well established and are not 
of a species with a shallow spreading root system.  This standard is met. 
 
O. Access Spacing Standards shall, to the greatest extent possible, comply with 
Washington County’s standards and the most recently adopted public works/street 
standards of the City of North Plains. Washington County’s access spacing standards by 
street functional classification are as follows: 

 
Major Arterial: 1,000 feet Minor Arterial: 
600 feet Major Collector: 150 feet Minor 
Collector: 50 feet Local Street: 10 feet 

 
Finding:  The access points to this site are existing and meet this spacing requirement.  No changes to 
access are proposed and, therefore, this standard is met. 

 
16.150.115 General Right-of-Way and Improvement Widths 
Construction specifications for all street and right-of-way improvement widths shall 
comply with the criteria of the most recently adopted public works/street standards of the 
City of North Plains, the North Plains Transportation System Plan, and/or Washington County 
standards. These standards shall be the minimum requirements for all streets, except 
where modifications are permitted under this chapter or the Street Standard adopted by 
the City Council of North Plains, whichever is less restrictive. Refer to Figures 5-2A-5-
2P in the Transportation System Plan for detailed diagrams depicting street right-of-way, 
improved, and roadway width requirements. 

 
16.150.025 Construction Specifications 
Construction specifications for all public improvements shall comply with the criteria of the 
most recently adopted public works/street standards of the City of North Plains. 
 
Finding:  Much of the right-of-way adjacent to this site has been or is being vacated.  
No additional right-of-way dedication or improvement is required by this addition of a 
warehouse building on an industrial site. 

 
16.31.070 Bikeways and Sidewalks Required on Arterials and Collectors 

 
A.  Glencoe Road: Include bicycle lanes and sidewalks on both sides of the road. This would 
provide connectivity to the existing sidewalks and future growth to the east of Glencoe 
Road. 
B.  Commercial Street: Include bicycle lanes and sidewalks on both sides of the road. 
A detailed plan should be developed to make sure these facilities coexist with parking 
demand in the downtown area. 

C.  North Avenue: On the near term a sidewalk should be constructed on the south side of 
North Avenue to connect the existing sidewalk to Gordon Road. Sidewalks should also be 
added on the south side of North Avenue between NW 309th Avenue and Glencoe Road. 
These improvements would complete a system of sidewalks on North Avenue in addition 
to providing connectivity to the adjacent street system. In the Long term sidewalks should 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 15 of 101



File 15-036 Jewett-Cameron Industrial Building Design Review Page 9 

 

be added to the north side of North Avenue also. 
D.  Gordon Road: Provide sidewalk on the east side. This improvement will facilitate a 
connection to the future extension of sidewalk on the south side of North Avenue and 
to sidewalks along Commercial Street. 

 
Finding: The proposed development does not abut any of the listed streets and, 
therefore, this criterion is not applicable. 
 
16.160 OFF STREET PARKING AND LOADING 

 

16.155.005 General Provisions 
 

A. Off-street parking spaces for dwellings shall be located on the same tax lot with the 
structure, and within 250 feet of the dwelling unit for which the parking space is required. 
Garages and/or carports may be used to satisfy the off-street parking requirements for 
dwellings, however, one required parking space may be uncovered. Parking spaces required 
for other uses may be located on a separate tax lot and shall be located not farther than 
500 feet from the building or use they are to serve.  
B. Parking and loading spaces shall not be located in a required side or rear yard, except 
that off street parking spaces may be located in a required side or rear yard adjacent to a 
street on commercial or industrial zoned land provided that the parking spaces are 
developed consistent with the development standards of this chapter. 
C. In the event several uses occupy a single structure or parcel of land, the total 
requirements for off-street parking shall be the sum of the requirements of the several 
uses computed separately.  
D. Owners of two or more uses, structures, or parcels of land may agree to utilize jointly 
the same parking and loading spaces when the hours of operation do not overlap, provided 
that satisfactory legal evidence is presented to the building inspector in the form of deed, 
leases or contracts to establish the joint use.  
E. Off-street parking spaces for dwellings shall be located on the same tax lot with the 
structure, and within 250 feet of the dwelling unit for which the parking space is required. 
Garages and/or carports may be used to satisfy the off-street parking requirements for 
dwellings, however, one required parking space may be uncovered. Parking spaces required 
for other uses may be located on a separate tax lot and shall be located not farther than 
500 feet from the building or use they are to serve.  
 
F. Parking and loading spaces shall not be located in a required side or rear yard, except 
that off street parking spaces may be located in a required side or rear yard adjacent to a 
street on commercial or industrial zoned land provided that the parking spaces are 
consistent with the development standards of this chapter. 
G. Required parking spaces shall be available for parking of operable passenger 
automobiles of residents, customers, patrons and employees only, and shall not be used 
for storage of vehicles or materials or for the parking of trucks used in conducting the 
business or use.  
H. Required parking spaces shall be improved and available for use before the final 
inspection is completed by the building inspector. An extension of time may be granted by 
the building inspector providing an irrevocable letter of credit, assignment of bank 
account, performance bond, or its equivalent, is posted equaling the cost to complete the 
improvements.  
I. On-Street Parking Credit. The amount of off-street parking required may be reduced by 
one-half off-street parking space for every one on-street parking space adjacent to the 
development (where curbs and sidewalks are present and parking is allowed). On-street 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 16 of 101



File 15-036 Jewett-Cameron Industrial Building Design Review Page 10 

 

parking shall follow the established configuration of existing on-street parking, except that 
angled parking may be allowed for some streets, where permitted by City standards. The 
following constitutes an on-street parking space:  

a. Parallel parking, each 24 feet of uninterrupted curb; b. 45 degree diagonal, each 

14 feet of curb; c. 60 degree diagonal, each 11.5 feet of curb; d. 90 degree 

(perpendicular) parking, each 10 feet of curb; e. Curb space must be connected to 

the lot which contains the use; f. Parking spaces that would not obstruct a required 

clear vision area, nor any other parking that violates any law or street standard; 

and g. On-street parking spaces credited for a specific use may not be used 

exclusively by that use, but shall be available for general public use at all times. 

No signs or actions limiting general public use of on-street parking spaces are 

permitted.  

J. When the calculation of the minimum number of parking spaces required results in a 

fraction of a space, the applicant must round up to the nearest whole space.  

 
Finding: Section 16.155.015, Automotive Parking Requirements, requires one space per 
employee on the largest shift for storage warehouse, manufacturing establishment, rail 
or trucking freight terminal.  The maximum number of employees on this site is 32 at any 
shift, according to the Applicant’s submitted narrative.   
 
Sheet C1 of the Applicant’s submittal identifies 36 spaces on the site and; therefore, this 
standard is met as shown. 
 
16.155.020 Off-Street Loading Requirements  
Off-street loading space shall be provided as listed below: All office buildings shall require 
a minimum loading space size of 12 feet wide, 20 feet long and 14 feet high in the following 
amounts:  
1. For buildings containing up to 5,000 square feet of gross floor area, one space; for each 
additional 10,000 square feet of gross floor area, or any portion thereof, one space.  
2. All other commercial or industrial buildings shall require a minimum loading space of 12 
feet wide, 20 feet long, and 14 feet high in the following amounts:  
3. For buildings containing up to 5,000 square feet of gross floor area, one space; for each 
additional 10,000 square feet of gross floor area, or any portion thereof, one space.  
 
Finding: This 12,000 square foot warehouse building triggers two off-street loading 
spaces.  The Applicant proposes a covered loading area adequately sized to provide the 
two off-street loading spaces.  This standard is met.   
 
16.155.025 Parking and Loading Area Development Requirements  
All parking and loading areas shall be developed and maintained as follows:  
A. Surfacing: Areas used for standing and maneuvering of vehicles shall have durable and 
dustless surfaces maintained adequately for all weather use and drained to avoid flow of 
water across public sidewalks.  
B. Screening: When any public parking or loading area is within or adjacent to a residential 
zone, such parking or loading area shall be screened from all residential properties with 
an ornamental fence, wall or hedge of at least five feet in height but not more than six 
feet in height, except where vision clearance is required.  
C. Periphery: Parking spaces along the outer boundaries of a parking lot shall be contained 
by a bumper rail or a curb at least four inches high and set back a minimum of four feet 
from the property line.  

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 17 of 101



File 15-036 Jewett-Cameron Industrial Building Design Review Page 11 

 

D. Lighting: Artificial lighting which may be provided shall not create or reflect substantial 
glare in a residential zone or on an adjacent dwelling.  
E. Design of Parking Spaces and Driveways Off-street parking lots shall be designed in 
accordance with City Standards for stalls and aisles as set forth in the following drawing 
and table: 
 
Finding:  This is an existing site with on-site parking.  Sheet C1 shows 36 marked, 
adequately sized parking spaces on the site, exceeding the required 32 spaces.  The 
parking areas are paved, durable and dustless and adequately drained.  The parking areas 
are screened from the residential zone to the north by a dense arborvitae screen, a grassy 
berm and street trees.  No additional parking or lighting is proposed or required for the 
addition of this warehouse building to the site.  This standard is met. 
 
16.160 CLEAR VISION AREAS 

 
16.160.000 Requirements 
Except in the C-1 zone, a clear vision area shall be maintained on the corners of all 
property adjacent to the intersection of two streets, a street and a railroad, or a 
driveway providing vehicular access to a public street, including alleys. 
A.  Lots or parcels on street corners (public and/or private) shall maintain a sight triangle 
with no sight obstruction between three (3) feet and ten (10) feet in height as measured 
from street grade. Sight obstructions include, but are not limited to, fences, vegetation, 
berms, signs and structures. The sight triangle shall be measured from the street corner 
(apex), to a distance of twenty (20) feet along each street side (see Figure 1). For the 
purpose of this Section, a street corner is defined as that point where the extended edges 
of the road surface of two intersecting streets meet. The City may require additional vision 
clearance based on a hazard identified by the City. However, tree trunks and sign poles 
not exceeding 12 inches in diameter may be located within the vision clearance area, 
provided the diameter does not exceed 24 inches. 
B.  A private access shall be treated as a public street for the purpose of this section. 
The vision clearance area shall be determined in the manner set forth form in Chapter 
16.160.000.010(A). The edge of the paved surface area of the private access, be it 
roadway, curb or sidewalk, shall be treated as the right-of-way line in determining the 
vision clearance area. 

 
Finding: No changes  are proposed to the access  points of  this  s ite with 
construct ion of this  warehouse bui ld ing.   Adequate c lear  v is ion areas 
ex ist  at  both dr iveway entrances.   Based on this information, this standard is 
met. 

 
16.170 APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS AND REVIEW PROCEDURES 

Administrative, Limited Land Use, Quasi-Judicial & Legislative Decisions 

16.170.000 General Provisions 

 
C.  Type III Quasi-Judicial Permits by Planning Commission 

 
3. Design Review Permit 

 
Finding: This application is classified as Type III because it includes a design review 
permit. 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 18 of 101



File 15-036 Jewett-Cameron Industrial Building Design Review Page 12 

 

 
16.170.001 Pre-application Conference 

 
A pre-application conference is required for Type II, III and IV permits. The applicant 
shall file the appropriate application, pay the review fee and meet with the City Planner, 
other city staff and affected agencies. At the conference the City Planner shall identify 
the relevant comprehensive plan policies, map designations, zone and development 
standards and procedural requirements applicable to the application. The planner and 
affected agencies shall provide technical data and identify opportunities or constraints 
concerning the application. 

 
Failure of the City to provide any information required by this section does not constitute 
a waiver of any of the standards, criteria or requirements for the application. Due to 
possible changes in federal, state, regional and local law, the applicant is responsible for 
assuring the application complies with all applicable laws on the day the application is 
deemed complete. 

 
Finding: As this is a warehouse addition to a developed site, the City did not require a 
pre-application meeting.  This standard is met. 

 
16.170.002 Neighborhood Meeting 

 
Applicants or their representatives are encouraged to meet with adjacent property 
owners and neighborhood representatives prior to submitting an application to the City in 
order to solicit input and exchange information about the proposed development. The 
applicant for a Type III application is encouraged to hold a neighborhood meeting with a 
recognized neighborhood or community organization. If no organization exists, then the 
applicant is encouraged to hold a meeting with adjacent property owners within a radius 
of 250 feet who will receive public notice. 

 
Finding: The Applicant did not provide evidence of a neighborhood meeting regarding 
this development.  Because a neighborhood meeting is encouraged but not required, this 
standard is met. 

 
16.170.003 Traffic Impact Study 

The purpose of this section of the code is to assist in determining which road authorities 
participate in a land use decision, and to implement Section 660-012-0045 (2) of the State 
Transportation Planning Rule that requires the City to apply conditions to development 
proposals in order to minimize impacts and protect transportation facilities. This Chapter 
establishes the standards for when a proposal must be reviewed for potential traffic 
impacts; when a Traffic Impact Study must be submitted with a development application 
in order to determine whether conditions are needed to minimize impacts to and protect 
transportation facilities; what must be in a Traffic Impact Study; and who is qualified to 
prepare the Study. 

 
A.  When a Traffic Impact Study is required. The City or other road authority with 
jurisdiction may require a Traffic Impact Study (TIS) as part of an application for 
development, a change in use, or a change in access. A TIS shall be required when a land 
use application involves one or more of the following actions: 

 
1.  A change in zoning or a plan amendment designation; 
2.  Any proposed development of land use action that a road authority states may have 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 19 of 101



File 15-036 Jewett-Cameron Industrial Building Design Review Page 13 

 

operational or safety concerns along its facility; 
3.  An increase in site traffic volume generation by 300 Average Daily Trips 
(ADT) or more; or 

4.  An increase in site traffic volume of a particular movement to and from the State 
Highway by 20 percent or more; or\ 
5.  An increase in use of adjacent streets by vehicles exceeding the 20,000 pound gross 
vehicle weights by 10 vehicles or more per day; or 
6. The location of the access driveway does not meet minimum sight distance 
requirements, or is located where vehicles entering or leaving the property are restricted, 
or such vehicles queue or hesitate on the State Highway, creating a safety hazard; or 
7.  A change in internal traffic patterns that may cause safety problems, such 
as back up onto a street or greater potential for traffic accidents. 

 
B.  Traffic Impact Study Preparation. A Traffic Impact Study shall be prepared by a 
professional engineer in accordance with the requirements of the road authority. If the 
road authority is the Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT), consult ODOT’s 
regional development review planner and OAR 734-051-180. 

 
Finding:  The site is currently served by truck traffic that utilizes roads designed to accommodate this type 
of traffic.  Overhead wiring and vegetation have been modified to accommodate trucks.  No additional traffic 
study is required for this warehouse addition. 

 
16.170.012 Type III Quasi-Judicial Decisions by the Planning Decision 
 

A.  Pre-application conference.  A pre-application conference is required for all Type III 
quasi-judicial applications under this Section. The requirements and procedures for a  
pre-application  conference  are  described  in  Chapter 

16.170.001. 
 
Finding: As this is a warehouse addition to a developed site, the City did not require a 
pre-application meeting.  This standard is met. 

 
B.  Application Requirements. 

 
1. Application form. A quasi-judicial application shall be made on forms provided by the 
City Planner or designee. The application shall include the property owner’s signature of 
consent. Entities with condemnation authority are not required to provide a consent 
signature. 

 
2.  Submittal Information. When a quasi-judicial application is required, it shall include: 

 
a.  The information requested on the application form; 

b.  One copy of a narrative statement that explains how the application satisfies each 
of the relevant criteria and standards insufficient detail for review and decision-making. 
c.  The required fee pursuant to Chapter 16.00.070; and 
d.  One set of pre-stamped and pre-addressed envelopes for all real property owners of 
record who will receive a notice of the application within 250 feet. The records of the 
Washington County Assessor’s office are the official records for determining ownership. 
The applicant shall produce the notice list. At the applicant’s request, and upon payment 
of a fee noted on the City’s fee list, the City may prepare the public notice mailing list. 
The City or the applicant shall use the most current County real property assessment 
records to produce the notice list. The City shall mail the notice of application. 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 20 of 101



File 15-036 Jewett-Cameron Industrial Building Design Review Page 14 

 

 
Finding: The applicant has met the requirements of 16.170.020 and was deemed to have 
submitted a complete application on June 16, 2015. 
 
16.175.010 Design Review Approval Procedures 
 
B. Type III Design Review. Type III design review applications are reviewed by the Planning 
Commission including a public hearing in accordance with this chapter. It applies to all 
development in the City, except those specifically listed or similar to those under “A.” 
above and the standards of this chapter.  
 

Finding: This design review application is being reviewed by the Planning Commission in 
a public hearing on July 27, 2015, in accordance with this chapter.  This standard is met. 
 
16.175.115 Filing Procedure  
Design Review Applications shall be filed on a Planning Department form as provided by 
the City and shall be accompanied by such drawings, sketches, and descriptions as the City 
deems necessary to describe the proposed development. An application shall not be 
deemed complete unless all information requested is provided. 
 
Finding: This application was submitted on a form provided by the City and was 
accompanied by all necessary documentation to review the application.  This standard is 
met with the submitted materials. 
 
 
16.175.050 Type III Design Review Criteria  

Approval of a Type III Design Review application shall be based on the following criteria:  

A. Relation of Site Plan Elements to the Environment  

 

1. The elements of the site plan shall be compatible with the natural environment and 
existing buildings and structures having a visual relationship with the site.  

 

Finding: The proposed building is an industrial warehouse on an industrial site.  The building 
will be located between the two existing industrial buildings, internal to the site.  The proposed 
construction materials match the materials of the existing buildings and are planned to be 
painted to match the metal siding on the recent addition to the building to the west.  There is 
no additional impervious surface proposed for this site as the location of the new building is 
currently paved.  No trees are proposed for removal.  This standard is met. 

 

2. The elements of the site plan should promote energy conservation, and provide 
protection from adverse climatic conditions, noise and air pollution.  

 

Finding:  The proposed 37 foot high building will not block sunlight from neighboring 
properties.  The large south-facing door openings of the warehouse will allow the maximum 
amount of sunlight and ventilation.  White membrane roofing is proposed to minimize heat 
gain.  The truck maneuvering and loading dock areas will be south of the building, 
separating the noise from the residential zone to the north.  The lighting of the loading 
area will be LED to minimize energy usage.  This standard is met. 

 

3. Each element of the site plan shall effectively, efficiently and attractively serve its 
function. The elements shall be on a human scale, interrelated, and shall provide spatial 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 21 of 101



File 15-036 Jewett-Cameron Industrial Building Design Review Page 15 

 

variety and order.  

 

Finding:  The function of the proposed building is to support the industrial uses on the 
site.  The building is designed to match the existing industrial buildings, and the covered 
loading area is designed to have a roofline lower than the warehouse building, bringing 
down the scale and massing of the structure.  The buildings are interrelated, provide 
spatial variety and order and are on the human scale as much as possible with this industrial 
type development. This standard is met. 

 

4. In commercial and industrial zones adjacent to State or Federal highways, and/or lying 
in County jurisdiction within urban growth boundaries, a coordinated circulation and access 
plan shall be submitted for the site and all properties in the immediate vicinity (no more 
than 1/4 mile to each site) to assure the public's safety in entering or leaving the site, as 
well as when traveling through the area. This requirement may be waived by the Planning 
Staff if adequate access control and efficient and safe circulation can be obtained without 
the development and approval of a coordinated circulation and access plan.  

 

Finding:  This site is within the City limits not adjacent to State or Federal highways and, 
therefore, this standard is not applicable. 

 

5. Safety and Privacy. The site plan should be designed to provide a safe environment while 
offering appropriate opportunities for privacy and transitions from public to private spaces.  

 

Finding:  This site is fenced and screened from adjacent properties and public rights-of-
way.  The site is gated when not conducting business.  The office building and guest parking 
is at the front of the site, providing the separation and transition from public to private 
and separating the heavier industrial uses from the public right-of-way.  This standard is 
met. 

 

6. Preservation of Natural Landscape. The landscape and existing grade shall be preserved 
to the maximum practical degree, considering development constraints and suitability of 
the landscape or grade to serve the applicant's functions. Preserved trees and shrubs shall 
be protected during construction.  

 

Finding:  No changes to the landscape and existing overall grade of the site are proposed.  
All existing trees and shrubs will be protected during construction, as verified through 
construction inspection.  This standard is met. 

 

7. Pedestrian and Vehicular Circulation and Parking. The location and number of points of 
access to the site, the interior circulation patterns, the separations between pedestrians 
and moving and parked vehicles, and arrangement of parking areas in relation to building 
and structures, shall be harmonious with proposed and neighboring buildings and structures.  

 

Finding:  The office building entrance is marked and connected by sidewalks to the parking, 
including ADA parking.  The area for passenger vehicles is separated from the area for large 
trucks and loading and maneuvering to further enhance pedestrian safety.    This standard 
is met. 

 

8. Drainage. Surface drainage systems shall be designed so as to not adversely affect 
neighboring properties, streets and/or surface and subsurface water quality. All surface 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 22 of 101



File 15-036 Jewett-Cameron Industrial Building Design Review Page 16 

 

water shall be contained on-site.  

 

Finding:  The entire site drains to the water quality facility on the west end of the site.  
The facility is sized and planted appropriately to treat all of the stormwater from this 
site.  The proposed building is located in an area that is currently paved, so there is no 
change in the amount of stormwater runoff from this proposal.  This standard is met. 

 

9. Buffering and Screening. Areas, structures, and facilities for storage, machinery and 
equipment, services (mail, refuse, utility wires, and the like), loading and parking, and 
similar accessory areas and structures shall be designed, located, buffered, or screened to 
minimize adverse impact on the site and neighboring properties.  

 

Finding:  As discussed previously in this report, this site is buffered and screened from the 
properties to the north by a large arborvitae hedgerow, grassy berm and street trees.  The 
site is buffered from the south by a fence and landscaping/trees at the west end of the 
frontage.  The construction and location of this warehouse building and covered loading 
are unlikely to have an adverse impact on the site or neighboring properties.  This standard 
is met. 

 

10. Utilities. All utility installations above ground, if such are allowed, shall be located so 
as to minimize adverse impacts on the site and neighboring properties.  

 

Finding:  The only utility proposed to serve this new structure is electricity, which will be 
located in an underground conduit from the transformers on the site.  No above ground 
utilities are proposed and, therefore, this standard is not applicable. 

 

11. For any access within the Light Industrial (M-1) zone, the access shall be spaced a 
minimum of 200 feet from the nearest access on the same side of  

the street; this is to be coordinated between O.D.O.T., Washington County and the City of 
North Plains.  

 

Finding:  This site is within the M-2 zone and, as such, this standard is not applicable. 

 

B. Required Landscaping  

Areas Subject to Landscape Requirements: All use types as allowed in the particular zoning 
district, and subject to Design Review shall meet the provisions of this section.  

1. Multi-family Residential. 15% landscaping of the gross lot area required. All areas subject 
to the final site plan and not otherwise improved shall be landscaped.  

2. Community Commercial. 5% landscaping of the gross lot area required. All areas subject 
to the final site plan and not otherwise improved shall be landscaped.  

3. General Commercial. 5% landscaping of the gross lot area required. All areas subject to 
the final site plan and not otherwise improved shall be landscaped. Screening by tall trees 
between highway commercial and adjacent residential zones, on side of highway 
commercial zone from highway to which it relates, such that the trees provide an attractive 
backdrop to elevated signage and adjacent residential uses.  

4. Light Industrial. 5% landscaping of the gross lot area required. All areas subject to final 
site plan and not otherwise improved shall be landscaped.  

5. Landscape Management. Natural vegetation is acceptable if maintained in a neat and fire 
safe manner.  

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 23 of 101



File 15-036 Jewett-Cameron Industrial Building Design Review Page 17 

 

6. Other Landscape Areas. All areas utilized for subsurface sewage disposal land treatment, 
except for single-family residences are required to be landscaped and maintained.  

 

Finding:  This site is in the M-2, General Industrial zone and, as such, subsections 1.-4. 
above are not applicable.  There is natural vegetation on the site in that the water quality 
facility is planted with native species and is maintained as to not be a fire risk.  There are 
no subsurface sewage disposal (septic tanks) on this property. 

  

C. Landscaping in Parking and Loading Areas  

In addition to the above provisions, the following landscape requirements apply to parking 
and loading areas.  

1. A parking or loading area shall be separated from any lot line adjacent to a roadway by 
a landscaped strip at least 5 feet in width.  

2. A landscaped strip separating a parking or loading area from a street shall contain:  

a) Street trees spaced as appropriate to the species, not to exceed 50 feet apart, on the 
average; and  

b) Low shrubs, not to reach a height greater than 3'0", spaced no more than 8 feet apart, 
on the average; and  

3. Vegetative ground cover if required.  

4. Landscaping in a parking or loading area shall be located in defined landscaped areas 
which are uniformly distributed throughout the parking or loading area.  

5. The landscaping in a parking area shall have a width of not less than three feet.  

 

Finding:  The parking area adjacent to the main industrial building on the site is separated 
from the lot line by a landscaped strip including trees and grass.  The loading areas are 
separated from the northern property line by a row of arborvitae and a grass covered berm.  
Both of the parking areas, the southern adjacent to the main building and the western 
adjacent to the swale, are uniformly perimeter landscaped.  No landscaping strips are less 
than 3 feet in width.  This standard is met. 

 

D. Irrigation  

Provisions shall be made for watering planting areas where such care is required. 
Underground sprinklers may be required.  

 

Finding:  The existing landscaping is irrigated and no changes are proposed.  This standard 
is met. 

 

E. Maintenance  

Required landscaping shall be continuously maintained.  

 

Finding:  The landscaping has been maintained on this site continuously and this is 
expected to continue.  Failure to do so would be pursued as a Code Compliance issue.  This 
standard is met. 

 

F. Special Requirements  

The Planning Commission may require the following, in addition to the minimum 
requirements and standards of this ordinance, as a condition of Design Review Approval.  

1. An increase in building separation, to afford improvement in light reception or air 
circulation or to afford greater fire resistance, based on building structural and fire flow 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 24 of 101



File 15-036 Jewett-Cameron Industrial Building Design Review Page 18 

 

requirements.  

2. Additional off-street parking, according to specific requirements for the type of 
development.  

3. Screening of the proposed use by a fence, or landscaping.  

4. Limitations on the size, location, intensity and number of exterior lights.  

5. Limitations on the number, and location of curb cuts.  

6. Improvement or enlargement of utilities serving the proposed use, where existing 
facilities will be burdened by the proposed use.  

7. Landscaping, or increases in landscaping requirements for the site.  

8. Limitations on the number and size of signs.  

9. Review of and adjustments in design for conformance with the historic architectural 
design theme.  

10. Any other limitations or conditions it considers necessary to achieve the purposes of 
this ordinance and the Comprehensive Plan.  

 

Finding: This construction of a warehouse building is proposed on an industrial site that 
is currently meeting parking, screening, access, landscaping and signage standards.  The 
building is placed on the site so as to be efficient and safe.  There are no historical 
architectural design themes on this property and the proposed building will be designed 
to match the existing buildings.  No additional conditions of the design review approval 
are necessary. 

 

 

CONCLUSIONS 

 
The Planning Commission is considering approval of the Design Review Request for the 
Jewett-Cameron Industrial Warehouse Building.  

 
Staff recommends approval of the application with conditions of approval outlined below. 

 

CONDITIONS  OF   APPROVAL  

 

Prior to approval of a grading permit or any other preliminary permits, the Applicant 
shall provide evidence that the following conditions have been satisfied: 
 
1. If applicable, all sanitary sewer, storm sewer, and surface water management provisions 
shall be designed in accordance with Clean Water Services (CWS) “Design and Construction 
Standards for Sanitary Sewer and Surface Water Management,” as contained in CWS 
Resolution and Order No. 07-20 (R&) 07-20). This shall include both the conveyance system 
and off-site improvements and modifications to existing systems necessary to provide 
adequate services to the site. 

 
2.  If applicable, sanitary sewer service improvements shall be provided in compliance with 
R&O 07-20 and City of North Plains Public Works Design Standards, Planning, Zoning, and 
Development Codes and other applicable City and Washington County Policies. 

 
3. Surface  water  conveyance  and  surface  water  management  facilities  shall  be 
provided in compliance with R&O 07-20 and other Washington County standards that apply, 
as well as the City of North Plains Public Works Design Standards, Planning, Zoning, and 
Development Codes and other applicable City and Washington County Policies. All system 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 25 of 101



File 15-036 Jewett-Cameron Industrial Building Design Review Page 19 

 

improvements located outside of the Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) shall require 
approvals from Washington County in addition to the City. 

 
 

4. If applicable, public water system improvements are required and shall be planned, 
designed, and constructed in accordance with current City of North Plains Public Works 
Design Standards, the City Engineer’s recommendations and the APWA Standard 
Specifications for Public Works Construction. The system improvements shall be looped 
with the existing water system as approved by the City and be constructed with minimum 
8 inch diameter pipes. Following approval of the development and prior to any on-site 
development, the water system shall be verified by the City Engineer, at the applicant’s 
expense, to demonstrate that the proposed water system improvements meet all 
applicable City and State requirements and is consistent with the City Water Master Plan 
and water distribution model. 

 
5. All off-site sanitary sewer and storm water easements of sufficient width, as 
determined by the approving authority, shall be dedicated to the appropriate 
jurisdictional authority prior to approval of any construction agreements, engineered 
plans, plat, grading or construction permits. Any easements proposed outside the Urban 
Growth Boundary shall be approved by Washington County. 

 
Ongoing Conditions: 

 
1. The applicant/owners agree to waive their right to remonstrate against the 

formation of a local improvement district or other mechanism to construct future 

improvements to the streets, storm water, water and sewer systems that may be 

assessed against the subject property. 

 

2. All conditions of approval must be completed within one year of the date of this 

approval or the approval is void, unless specifically modified by an approved 

phased construction schedule, approval of an extension, or unless the 

applicant/owners provides assurances otherwise. 

 

3. If applicable, prior to obtaining approval to begin construction of any public 

improvements, the applicant/owner shall provide a performance bond to the City 

in the amount of 125% of the total cost of such construction.  Upon completion 

of all public improvements, the applicant/owner shall provide a maintenance 

bond to the City, in the amount of 40% of the total cost of such construction, 

guaranteeing said improvements for a period of one (1) year following City 

acceptance of said improvements. Comply with the recommended conditions of 

the Public Works Director. 

 

4.  All utilities shall be constructed underground. 

 

5. The applicant shall be responsible for reimbursing the City for the reasonable 

costs associated with inspection of public works improvements. 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 26 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 27 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 28 of 101

mreh
Typewritten Text

mreh
Typewritten Text
026823



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 29 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 30 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 31 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 32 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 33 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 34 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 35 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 36 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 37 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 38 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 39 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 40 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 41 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 42 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 43 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 44 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 45 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 46 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 47 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 48 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 49 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 50 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 51 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 52 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 53 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 54 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 55 of 101



File 15-037 Verboort Gordon Road Minor Land Partition Page 1 

 

 
CITY OF NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO. 6B 
 
Subject: Verboort Gordon Road Minor Land Partition 
From: Heather Austin, AICP, Consulting Land Use Planner 
 
 
 

City Staff Report 
July 20, 2015 

 
City File: #15-037 

 
Application Purpose: An application for approval of a two-parcel minor 

land partition.  The existing home will be retained on 
one of the parcels. 

 
Public Hearing Date: July 27, 2015 

 
Applicant/Property Owner: Laurie Verboort 

11440 NW Gordon Road 
North Plains, OR  97133 

 
Site Location: 11440 NW Gordon Road 
 
Tax Lot:                                        1N301BC00202 

 
Size: 2.35 acres 

City Land Use Classification:  R-2.5 (High Density Residential) 

Pre-Application Meeting Date:  None 
Application Submitted:                  May 14, 2015 
Application Deemed Complete: June 16, 2015 
Public Notice mailed:                    June 16, 2015 
Public Notice Published:                July 8, 2015 
120-Day Deadline:               October 14, 2015 

 
 
 
 

EXHIBITS   
1. Applicant’s submitted materials 

 
 

 
REQUEST 

 

The Applicant requests approval of a minor land partition to divide a 2.35 acre site into 
two parcels.  This request is subject to a Type III process for quasi-judicial review by the 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 56 of 101



File 15-037 Verboort Gordon Road Minor Land Partition Page 2 

 

Planning Commission.  

 

Summary Conclusions 

 
The City accepts many of the Applicant’s findings. Areas where information was missing 
from the Applicant’s submittal or inconsistent with code criteria have been addressed with 
a recommended condition of approval of the partition application.  

 
SITE DESCRIPTION  

This property is on the southeast corner of NW North Avenue and NW Gordon Road. The 
project site is 2.35 acres and is located within the City of North Plain.  The property is 
zoned R-2.5 for high-density residential development is developed with one single-family 
detached home that was constructed in 1935 and will be retained. 
 
This lot was created by Deed Number 79-035006, recorded on August 28, 1979, prior to 
current land partition laws in Washington County or North Plains.  Laurie Verboort has 
demonstrated ownership of this parcel. 
 
The site is within the City of North Plains but adjacent to the City Limits and Urban Growth 
Boundary (UGB).  Adjacent land to the south and east is within the City and zoned R-2.5 
and adjacent land to the west and north is outside of the City limits and UGB. 

 
 

Compliance with City of North Plains Municipal Code 
 
ZONES 
  
16.30 ZONING DISTRICT R-2.5  
 
16.30.005 Permitted Uses 
Permitted uses are subject to the requirements of the Design Review section of this    
chapter, if applicable. Refer to Zoning Code Use Table. 

 
L.  Residential Homes 

 
Finding:  This application is for partition of residential property for eventual 
construction of one additional residential home. There is one residential home on the 
site.  The use is permitted on this site. 
 
16.30.015 Dimensional Standards 
The following dimensional standards shall be the minimum requirements for all 
development in the R-2.5 District except for modifications permitted under Lot, Building, 
& Yard Exceptions or Planned Unit Development sections of this chapter.  In addition, a 
minor adjustment of up to 10% of the required setback, area, lot size, lot depth or lot 
width may be granted by the City pursuant to Variance section of this chapter provided 
the adjustment complies with administrative variance review criteria. 
  

A. Lot/Parcel Size 

 Lots created by subdivision: 6,000 square feet maximum lot size per 
dwelling unit 

 Single-family dwelling: 2,500 square feet minimum  
 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 57 of 101



File 15-037 Verboort Gordon Road Minor Land Partition Page 3 

 

B. Lot/Parcel Depth and Width 

 No minimum lot width or depth 
 
Finding:  Both of the proposed parcels meet the 2,500 square foot minimum requirement.  
As this is a partition and not a subdivision, the maximum lot size is not applicable.  This 
standard is met. 
 

C. Setback Requirements 
Principle structures, accessory dwellings and accessory structures with a floor area greater 
than 200 square feet shall maintain the following minimum setbacks except that 
development on flag lots shall be subject to the setback standards for Flag Lots. 
 

D. Front Yard: 

 For all structures: 10 feet 

 Garage: 20 feet 
Garages, carports, accessory dwellings and accessory structures shall be flush with, or 
recessed behind, the front building elevation of the principle structure. 
 
 

E. Rear Yard: 

 Street-access lots: 10 feet 

 Alley-access lots: 6 feet 

 Accessory structures and accessory dwellings: 5 feet 
 

F. Side Yard: 

 Side yards should be established to create separation between 
structures and meet fire codes and provide space for pervious surface 
area 

 Single family dwellings created by subdivision must have at least one 
side yard 

 Adjacent to street- 10 feet plus additional necessary to comply with the 
standards of Clear Vision Areas section of this chapter. 

 Accessory Structures and Accessory Dwellings- 5 foot adjacent to street 
setback, except as provided for in the Accessory Use, Structures and 
Dwellings section of this chapter. 

 
Finding:  The submitted plans show all parts of the existing home 89 feet from Gordon 
Road and 139 feet from North Avenue, exceeding the front setback of 10 feet and front 
garage setback of 20 feet.  The Rear and side yards from the existing home and all 
accessory structures to the new property line are proposed at 10 feet, meeting the 
requirements of this Code.  The new home constructed on the second parcel will be 
required to meet all applicable setbacks. 
 
Recommended condition:  Prior to issuance of building permits, review structure 
placement for compliance with sections 16.30.015.D-F. 
 
Finding:  Sheet P04 – Preliminary Building Setback Plan illustrates proposed setbacks for 
all lots. The proposed setbacks were compared with the minimum requirements for the 
zone.  All proposed lots show a minimum rear yard setback of 10 feet.  All proposed lots 
show two side yards and all street side yards are a minimum of 10 feet.   Therefore, the 
proposed preliminary plat meets the standards of 16.30.015.E and 16.30.015.F. 
 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 58 of 101



File 15-037 Verboort Gordon Road Minor Land Partition Page 4 

 

G. Flag lots approved: 

 10 feet for all yards, except for the yard facing a garage. 

 The yard facing the garage shall be a minimum of 20 feet. 
 

H. Height of Buildings: 
Buildings shall not exceed a height of 35 feet or two and a half stories, whichever is less.  
Accessory dwellings (excluding accessory structures) shall not exceed 25 feet in height. 
 
Finding:  No flag lots are proposed as part of this application.  The height of the existing 
home does not exceed 35 feet and the height of the future home is not indicated on the 
plans; however, compliance with this criterion can be verified at time of building permit 
submittal. Therefore, subsection 16.30.015.G is not applicable and the proposed 
preliminary plat can be conditioned to meet the standards of 16.30.015.H. 
 
Recommended condition:  Prior to issuance of building permits, review structure height 
for compliance with section 16.30.015.H, ensuring that the building height does not 
exceed 35 feet or two and a half stories, whichever is less. 
 

I. Lot/Parcel Coverage 
In the R-2.5 District, the maximum lot coverage for impervious surfaces shall not exceed 
65%. 
 
Finding:  Parcel coverage is not specifically addressed in the Applicant’s submittal; 
however, the existing home occupies far less than 50% of the parcel on which it will sit.  
Compliance with this criterion for the new home can be verified at time of building 
permit submittal.    Therefore, the proposed preliminary plat can be conditioned to meet 
the standards of 16.30.015.I. 
 
Recommended condition:  Prior to issuance of building permits, review lot coverage for 
compliance with section 16.30.015.I, ensuring that the maximum lot coverage for 
impervious surfaces does not exceed 65%. 
 
16.30.025 Development Standards 
The following standards will be applied to all single family dwellings (site-build, modular 
and manufactured homes) to be constructed or located in the City of North Plains: 
 

A. All units shall utilize at least two of the following design features to provide visual 
relief along the front of the home: 
1. Dormers; 
2. Gables; 
3. Recessed entries; 
4. Covered porch entries; 
5. Cupolas; 
6. Pillars or posts; 
7. Bay or bow windows; 
8. Eaves (minimum 6” projection) 
9. Offsets on building face or roof (minimum 16”); 

 
 All manufactured homes shall also comply with the requirements of the 
 Manufactured Homes section of this chapter. 
 
Finding:  The existing home is well built with many of the listed design elements, 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 59 of 101



File 15-037 Verboort Gordon Road Minor Land Partition Page 5 

 

including dormers, gables, covered porch entries, pillars and eaves.  Building elevations 
are not included for any new homes as construction is not planned at this time.  However, 
compliance with this criterion can be verified at time of building permit submittal.    
Therefore, the proposed preliminary plat can be conditioned to meet the standards of 
16.30.025. 
 
Recommended condition:  Prior to issuance of building permits, review the front building 
elevations of any single-family residences for compliance with section 16.30.025, ensuring 
that at least two of the required design features are provided. 
 

LAND DIVISION 
 
Chapter 16.130 LAND PARTITIONING 
 
16.130.005 GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
A. All partitions shall conform to all applicable Zoning District Standards, Development 
Standards of this ordinance and the comprehensive plan.  
 
Finding:  This narrative addresses all applicable standards.  Compliance with all criteria 
is either demonstrated or conditioned, as necessary.  This standard is met. 
 
B. A master plan for development shall be required for any application which leaves a 
portion of the subject property capable of redevelopment.  
 
Finding:  A master plan has not been submitted even though both parcels are sized in a 
way that they could be redeveloped in the R-2.5 zone.  While the City understands the 
Applicant wants to build one additional home on the site, a master plan for development 
should the property be sold in the future can be submitted prior to plat recordation, as 
conditioned below. 
 
Recommended condition:  Prior to recording the final plat, submit a master plan for 
development which shows the development potential for both parcels in the R-2.5 zone.  
This master plan should show the total number of lots possible from each parcel as well 
as access/circulation/connectivity.  This master plan shall be included in the official 
record of this land use decision. 
 
C. Partition approval is valid in perpetuity, upon recording of the final partition plat.  
 
Finding:  The approval of this partition shall be valid in perpetuity upon recording of the 
final partition plat. 
 
D. A parcel within an approved partition may not be re-divided within the same calendar 
year in which it was recorded except through the subdivision process.  
 
Finding:  The City will not accept a partition application on this parcel within the same 
year that this partition is recorded.   
 
E. A tentative partition that creates a public road to access any of the proposed parcels 
shall be reviewed at a public hearing of the Planning Commission pursuant to the 
provisions of Public Hearings in this chapter.  
 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 60 of 101



File 15-037 Verboort Gordon Road Minor Land Partition Page 6 

 

Finding:  Both of the proposed parcels have adequate access to both NW North Avenue 
and NW Gordon Road.  However, Section 16.170.000.C.8 lists “Minor Land Partition 
Permit” as a Type III Quasi-Judicial Permit by the Planning Commission and, therefore, 
this application is being reviewed by the Planning Commission.   
 
F. Notice of the public hearing shall be provided in accordance with the provisions of 
Public Notice Requirements in this chapter.  
 
Finding:  The public hearing scheduled for July 27, 2015 was noticed in accordance with 
the Public Notice Requirements in this chapter.   
 
G. Approval of a Tentative Map for a partition is valid for one (1) year after the date of 
the written decision. A final plat map for a partition shall be approved and recorded 
within this one (1) year time period or the tentative approval shall lapse.  
 
H. Requests for extensions of partition approvals may be made in accordance with the 
provisions of this chapter.  
 
Finding:  The Applicant will be required to record the plat within one (1) year of tentative 
partition approval or request an extension of the approval. 
 
Recommended condition:  The partition plat shall be recorded within one (1) year of 
approval of the tentative partition plat, unless the Applicant applies for an extension per 
the standards of this code. 
  
16.130.016 Partition Approval Criteria The City may approve, approve with conditions 
or deny a preliminary partition plat based on the approval criteria of this chapter 
including the Subdivisions section. 
 
STANDARDS FOR DEVELOPMENT 
 
16.145 PUBLIC FACILITY AND SERVICE REQUIREMENTS 

 
16.145.005 Application of Public Facility Standards 
The provisions of Chapter 16.145 Public Facility and Service Requirements shall apply to 
development within the City of North Plains as listed in the following table. No 
development permit shall be approved unless the following required improvements are 
provided to City standards prior to occupancy or operation unless an exception is approved 
by the City Council per Chapter 16.145.020 or future provision of the improvement is 
assured per Chapter 16.145.030. 
 
Finding:  The partition of this property into two parcels will require application of public 
facility standards, as detailed in the subsections of 16.145, below. 
 

16.145.010 Public Facility Standards 
The following public facility standards shall be applicable to all development as 
specified in the Application Review section of this chapter. 

 
A.  Streets: Street improvements required by Chapter 16.145.005 Public Facility & Service 
Standards shall be provided in compliance with Street Standards of this ordinance. 

 
Finding: Streets are discussed in detail in Section 16.150, further in this report.   

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 61 of 101



File 15-037 Verboort Gordon Road Minor Land Partition Page 7 

 

 
B.  Storm Drainage: No development permit shall be approved for any property until the City 
Engineer has reviewed and approved provisions for storm water drainage in accordance with 
the following criteria: 
1.  For storm drainage across or over the property on which the development is located, 
there are storm drainage facilities available which are capable of handling a one-hundred 
year flood without damage to any improvement on the property, or inundation of the lowest 
habitable floor of any residential structure thereon. 
2.  For storm drainage along or from streets adjacent to the property on which the 
development is located, there are storm drainage facilities available in accordance with 
the City of North Plains adopted street standard. 

 
Finding: All storm drainage from this site is currently infiltrated on-site and/or conveyed 
via ditch along NW Gordon Road.  Storm drainage for any construction on the second parcel 
will be required to obtain Clean Water Services approval, as conditioned below. 
 
Recommended condition:  Prior to issuance of building permits, obtain Clean Water 
Services approval of storm drainage for any new construction. 

 
C. Sewage Disposal: No development permit shall be approved until the City Engineer and 
Clean Water Services has reviewed and approved provisions for connection to the public 
sewer system. 

 
Finding:  The existing home is served by a septic system that is located on the other 
proposed parcel.  Adequate easements are required to ensure proper use and 
maintenance of the septic drainage field.  Future construction on the second parcel will 
require connection to public sewer if available at the time of development or a new septic 
system permit if public sewer is not available. 
 
Recommended condition:  Prior to recording the final plat, submit documentation of 
easements adequate to allow the owner of the parcel with the existing home to access 
the septic system on the other parcel.  Obtain the City’s approval of this documentation 
prior to plat recording.   
 
Recommended condition:  Prior to issuance of building permits, obtain City approval to 
connect to the public sewer system or obtain a permit to construct a new septic system 
to serve the site, if public sewer is not available. 
 
D.  Water Supply: No development permit shall be approved for any property unless all 
affected water mains are either: 
1.  Fully improved to a standard providing both adequate potable water and fire flows, as 
established by the applicable State Plumbing Code and approved by the City Engineer; 
or 
2.  Improved to a standard providing adequate potable water flows pursuant to the City 
Water Master Plan and approved by the City Engineer and the Fire Chief for Washington 
County Fire District No. 2. 

 
Finding: The existing home is on a well.  Public water may be extended to serve the site 
prior to any new home construction.  The new home will be required to connect to public 
water if available at time of construction, or obtain a well permit, as conditioned below. 
 
Recommended condition:  Prior to issuance of building permits, obtain City approval to 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 62 of 101



File 15-037 Verboort Gordon Road Minor Land Partition Page 8 

 

connect to the public water system or obtain a permit to construct a new well to serve 
the site if public water is not available. 
 

16.145.120  Methods to Assure Facilities and Services 

A legal and enforceable document, contract or process which assures the City that a public 
improvement will be accomplished is required. Assurances may include but are not 
limited to the following: 
A. Cash in escrow, assignment of letter of credit, etc.  
B. Establishment of a Local Improvement District (LID) through the post- remonstrance 
period. Failure of the City to accept the LID shall constitute a waiver of the assurance 
requirement. 
C. Evidence of formal action by public or private agencies or companies, including the City 
of North Plains, appropriating monies for the requisite public improvement. 
D. Any other legally binding arrangement that assures the improvements will be made 
within the required time frame, including: 
1.  Phasing of the development; 
2.  Construction of interim improvements; 
3.  Construction of improvements on a phased basis. 

 
Finding:  If any public improvements are required, the City will require la legal and 
enforceable document, contract or process to ensure public improvement completion.  
This generally occurs prior to issuance of building permits.   

 
16.145.130   Requirement for Public Work Permit 

No person, firm or corporation shall commence construction of improvements within a 
public right-of-way or upon public property without first obtaining a Public Works 
Construction Permit on a form or forms provided by the City. 

 
Finding: The applicant is required to obtain permits from the City of North Plains or 

Washington County, as applicable, for any work performed in the right of way. 
 
16.150 STREET STANDARDS 

 
16.150.010 GENERAL PROVISIONS 

The following general provisions shall apply to the dedication, construction, improvement 
or other development of all public streets in the City of North Plains: 
A.  The location, width, and grade of streets shall be considered in their relation to existing 
and planned streets, to topographical conditions, to public convenience and safety, and to 
the proposed use of the land to be served by the streets. 
B.  Development proposals shall provide for the continuation of existing principal streets 
where necessary to promote appropriate traffic circulation in the vicinity of the 
development. 

 
C.  Reserve strips: Reserve strips or street plugs controlling the access to streets will not be 
approved unless necessary for the protection of the public welfare or of substantial 
property rights, and in these cases they may be required. The control and disposal of the 
land composing such strips shall be placed within the jurisdiction of the City under 
conditions approved by the Planning Commission. 

 
Finding: This site is adjacent to fully connected streets.  No additional continuation of 
public right-of-way is necessary adjacent to this site.  No reserve strips are proposed.  
These standards are met. 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 63 of 101



File 15-037 Verboort Gordon Road Minor Land Partition Page 9 

 

 
D.  Alignment: All streets other than minor streets or cul-de-sacs, as far as practical, shall 
be in alignment with existing streets by continuation of the center lines thereof. The 
staggering of street alignments resulting in "T" intersections shall, wherever practical, 
leave a minimum distance of 200 feet between the center lines of streets having 
approximately the same direction and otherwise shall not be less than 100 feet. 
E. Future extension of streets: Where necessary to give access to or permit a satisfactory 
future development of adjoining land, streets shall be extended to the boundary of a tract 
being developed and the resulting dead-end streets may be approved without turnarounds. 
Reserve strips and street plugs may be required to preserve the objectives of street 
extensions. 
F.  Intersection angles: Streets shall be laid out to intersect at angles as near to right 
angles as practical, except where topography requires lesser angle, but in no case shall 
the acute angle be less than 80 degrees unless there is a special intersection design. An 
arterial or collector street intersecting with another street shall have at least 100 feet 
of centerline tangent adjacent to the intersection unless topography requires a lesser 
distance. Other streets, except alleys, shall have at least 50 feet of tangent adjacent to 
the intersection unless topography requires a lesser distance. Intersections which contain 
an acute angle of less than 80 degrees or which include an arterial or collector street shall 
have a minimum corner radius sufficient to allow for a roadway radius of 20 feet and 
maintain a uniform width between the roadway and the right-of-way line. All other 
intersections shall have a minimum corner radius sufficient to allow for a roadway radius 
of 10 feet and maintain a uniform width between the roadway and the right-of-way line. 
Ordinarily, the intersection of more than two streets at any one point will not be approved. 

 
Finding: Subsections D., E. and F., above, apply to developments proposing or required 
to construct new streets.  These standards are not applicable as no new streets are 
proposed or necessary to serve this development. 

 
G. Existing streets: Whenever existing public streets adjacent to or within a tract are of 
inadequate width, additional right-of-way shall be provided at the time of subdivision or 
development. 

 
Finding:  All existing streets are of adequate width.  This standard is met. 

 
H.  Cul-de-sacs: Cul-de-sacs shall be as short as possible, and shall have maximum lengths 
of 600 feet and shall not serve more than 20 dwelling units. All cul-de- sacs shall terminate 
with circular turnarounds. Commercial and industrial cul- de-sacs shall have a minimum 
55' bulb radius. Additional cul-de sac specifications, including specifications for residential 
cul-de-sacs, are contained within the most recently adopted public works/street 
standards of the City of North Plains and/or Washington County development standards. 
I.   Street names: No street names shall be used which will duplicate or be confused with 
the names of existing streets, except for extensions of existing streets. Street names and 
number shall conform to the established pattern in the City and shall be subject to the 
approval of the Planning Commission. 

J.  Grades and curves: Grades shall not exceed 6 percent on arterials, 10 percent on 
collector streets or 12 percent on any other street. Center line radii of curves shall not be 
less than 300 feet on arterials, 200 feet on collectors or 100 feet on other streets, and 
shall be to an even 10 feet. Where existing conditions, particularly topography, make 
it otherwise impractical to provide buildable sites, the Planning Commission may accept 
steeper grades and sharper curves. In flat areas, allowance shall be made for finished 
street grades having a minimum slope of 0.5 percent. 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 64 of 101



File 15-037 Verboort Gordon Road Minor Land Partition Page 10 

 

 
Finding:  Subsections H., I. and J. above apply to developments proposing new streets 
and are therefore not applicable. 

 
K. Marginal access streets: If a development abuts or contains an existing or proposed 
arterial street, the Planning Commission may require marginal access streets, reverse 
frontage lots with suitable depth, screen planting contained in a non-access reservation 
along the rear or side property line, or such other treatment as may be necessary for 
adequate protection of residential properties and to afford separation of through and local 
traffic. 

 
Finding: NW Gordon Road and NW North Avenue are both classified as collector streets.  
There are no arterials adjacent to this site and, as such, this standard is not applicable. 

 
L.  Alleys: Alleys shall be provided in commercial and industrial districts unless other 
permanent provisions for access to off-street parking and loading facilities are made as 
approved by the Planning Commission. While alley intersections and sharp changes in 
alignment shall be avoided, the corners of necessary alley intersections shall have radii of 
not less than 10 feet. 

 
Finding: This site is not in commercial or industrial districts and, therefore, alleys are 
not required. 

 
M. Sidewalks shall be a minimum of five feet in width. Curbs and sidewalks shall be 
required along both sides of all public streets. All new development upon lots, tracts or 
parcels of land adjacent to a public street will be required to construct curbs and sidewalks. 

 
Finding:   This site is adjacent to both Gordon Road and North Avenue.  Sidewalks are specifically 
discussed for these street frontages in section 16.31.070 below. 

 
N.  Street trees, where provided, shall not be of a species which has a shallow 
spreading root system which is likely to disturb sidewalk or street improvements. 
 
Finding:   Street trees are present along the right-of-way on the north side of the property and 
along portions of the southern boundary of the site.  These trees are well established and are not 
of a species with a shallow spreading root system.  This standard is met. 
 
O. Access Spacing Standards shall, to the greatest extent possible, comply with 
Washington County’s standards and the most recently adopted public works/street 
standards of the City of North Plains. Washington County’s access spacing standards by 
street functional classification are as follows: 

 
Major Arterial: 1,000 feet  
Minor Arterial: 600 feet  
Major Collector: 150 feet  
Minor Collector: 50 feet  
Local Street: 10 feet 

 
Finding:  The existing home takes access from NW Gordon Road, approximately 139 feet from the 
intersection with NW North Avenue, exceeding the minor collector standard.  The access of the 
development on the other parcel will be required to meet all access spacing standards, as conditioned 
below. 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 65 of 101



File 15-037 Verboort Gordon Road Minor Land Partition Page 11 

 

 
Recommended condition:  Prior to issuance of building permits, demonstrate compliance 
with access spacing standards found in Section 16.150.010.O of the North Plains 
Development Code. 

 
16.150.115 General Right-of-Way and Improvement Widths 
Construction specifications for all street and right-of-way improvement widths shall 
comply with the criteria of the most recently adopted public works/street standards of the 
City of North Plains, the North Plains Transportation System Plan, and/or Washington County 
standards. These standards shall be the minimum requirements for all streets, except 
where modifications are permitted under this chapter or the Street Standard adopted by 
the City Council of North Plains, whichever is less restrictive. Refer to Figures 5-2A-5-
2P in the Transportation System Plan for detailed diagrams depicting street right-of-way, 
improved, and roadway width requirements. 

 
16.150.025 Construction Specifications 
Construction specifications for all public improvements shall comply with the criteria of the 
most recently adopted public works/street standards of the City of North Plains. 
 
Finding:  Much of the right-of-way adjacent to this site has been or is being vacated.  
No additional right-of-way dedication or improvement is required by this addition of a 
warehouse building on an industrial site. 

 
16.31.070 Bikeways and Sidewalks Required on Arterials and Collectors 

 
A.  Glencoe Road: Include bicycle lanes and sidewalks on both sides of the road. This would 
provide connectivity to the existing sidewalks and future growth to the east of Glencoe 
Road. 
B.  Commercial Street: Include bicycle lanes and sidewalks on both sides of the road. 
A detailed plan should be developed to make sure these facilities coexist with parking 
demand in the downtown area. 

C.  North Avenue: On the near term a sidewalk should be constructed on the south side of 
North Avenue to connect the existing sidewalk to Gordon Road. Sidewalks should also be 
added on the south side of North Avenue between NW 309th Avenue and Glencoe Road. 
These improvements would complete a system of sidewalks on North Avenue in addition 
to providing connectivity to the adjacent street system. In the Long term sidewalks should 
be added to the north side of North Avenue also. 
D.  Gordon Road: Provide sidewalk on the east side. This improvement will facilitate a 
connection to the future extension of sidewalk on the south side of North Avenue and 
to sidewalks along Commercial Street. 

 
Finding: The proposed partition abuts both North Avenue and Gordon Road. However, 
partition of the property into two parcels is not proportional to construction of sidewalk 
for the length of street frontage.  To address this code requirement, the City will require 
a waiver of remonstrance against a future Local Improvement District (LID) for 
construction of sidewalks along the Gordon and North frontages, as conditioned below. 
 
Recommended condition:  Prior to recording the final plat, submit to the City a signed 
waiver of remonstrance against future creation of a Local Improvement District for the 
construction of sidewalks on Gordon Road and North Avenue. 
 
 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 66 of 101



File 15-037 Verboort Gordon Road Minor Land Partition Page 12 

 

16.155 OFF STREET PARKING AND LOADING 

 

Finding: Section 16.155.015 requires two parking spaces per detached single family 
dwelling.  The parcels resulting from this minor land partition will include ample space 
for off-street parking, exceeding this standard. 
 
 
16.160 CLEAR VISION AREAS 

 
16.160.000 Requirements 

 
Except in the C-1 zone, a clear vision area shall be maintained on the corners of all 
property adjacent to the intersection of two streets, a street and a railroad, or a 
driveway providing vehicular access to a public street, including alleys. 

 
A.  Lots or parcels on street corners (public and/or private) shall maintain a sight triangle 
with no sight obstruction between three (3) feet and ten (10) feet in height as measured 
from street grade. Sight obstructions include, but are not limited to, fences, vegetation, 
berms, signs and structures. The sight triangle shall be measured from the street corner 
(apex), to a distance of twenty (20) feet along each street side (see Figure 1). For the 
purpose of this Section, a street corner is defined as that point where the extended edges 
of the road surface of two intersecting streets meet. The City may require additional vision 
clearance based on a hazard identified by the City. However, tree trunks and sign poles 
not exceeding 12 inches in diameter may be located within the vision clearance area, 
provided the diameter does not exceed 24 inches. 

 
B.  A private access shall be treated as a public street for the purpose of this section. 
The vision clearance area shall be determined in the manner set forth form in Chapter 
16.160.000.010(A). The edge of the paved surface area of the private access, be it 
roadway, curb or sidewalk, shall be treated as the right-of-way line in determining the 
vision clearance area. 

 
Finding: No construction on residential lots or parcels that would create any sight 
obstruction is proposed with this application. Compliance with 16.160.000 will be 
addressed through subsequent construction plans. 

 
16.170 APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS AND REVIEW PROCEDURES 

Administrative, Limited Land Use, Quasi-Judicial & Legislative Decisions 

16.170.000 General Provisions 

 
C.  Type III Quasi-Judicial Permits by Planning Commission 

 
8. Minor Land Partition Permit 

 
Finding: This application is classified as Type III because it is for a minor land partition 
permit. 

 
16.170.001 Pre-application Conference 

 
A pre-application conference is required for Type II, III and IV permits. The applicant 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 67 of 101



File 15-037 Verboort Gordon Road Minor Land Partition Page 13 

 

shall file the appropriate application, pay the review fee and meet with the City Planner, 
other city staff and affected agencies. At the conference the City Planner shall identify 
the relevant comprehensive plan policies, map designations, zone and development 
standards and procedural requirements applicable to the application. The planner and 
affected agencies shall provide technical data and identify opportunities or constraints 
concerning the application. 

 
Failure of the City to provide any information required by this section does not constitute 
a waiver of any of the standards, criteria or requirements for the application. Due to 
possible changes in federal, state, regional and local law, the applicant is responsible for 
assuring the application complies with all applicable laws on the day the application is 
deemed complete. 

 
Finding: The City found that partition of this lot into two parcels did not require a pre-
application meeting. 

 
16.170.002 Neighborhood Meeting 

 
Applicants or their representatives are encouraged to meet with adjacent property 
owners and neighborhood representatives prior to submitting an application to the City in 
order to solicit input and exchange information about the proposed development. The 
applicant for a Type III application is encouraged to hold a neighborhood meeting with a 
recognized neighborhood or community organization. If no organization exists, then the 
applicant is encouraged to hold a meeting with adjacent property owners within a radius 
of 250 feet who will receive public notice. 

 
Finding: The Applicant did not provide evidence of a neighborhood meeting regarding 
this development.  Because a neighborhood meeting is encouraged but not required, this 
standard is met. 

 
 
16.170.012 Type III Quasi-Judicial Decisions by the Planning Decision 
 

A.  Pre-application conference.  A pre-application conference is required for all Type III 
quasi-judicial applications under this Section. The requirements and procedures for  a  
pre-application  conference  are  described  in  Chapter 16.170.001. 

 
Finding: The City found that partition of this lot into two parcels did not require a pre-
application meeting. 

 
B.  Application Requirements. 

 
1. Application form. A quasi-judicial application shall be made on forms provided by the 
City Planner or designee. The application shall include the property owner’s signature of 
consent. Entities with condemnation authority are not required to provide a consent 
signature. 

 
2.  Submittal Information. When a quasi-judicial application is required, it shall include: 

 
a.  The information requested on the application form; 

b.  One copy of a narrative statement that explains how the application satisfies each 
of the relevant criteria and standards insufficient detail for review and decision-making. 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 68 of 101



File 15-037 Verboort Gordon Road Minor Land Partition Page 14 

 

c.  The required fee pursuant to Chapter 16.00.070; and 
d.  One set of pre-stamped and pre-addressed envelopes for all real property owners of 
record who will receive a notice of the application within 250 feet. The records of the 
Washington County Assessor’s office are the official records for determining ownership. 
The applicant shall produce the notice list. At the applicant’s request, and upon payment 
of a fee noted on the City’s fee list, the City may prepare the public notice mailing list. 
The City or the applicant shall use the most current County real property assessment 
records to produce the notice list. The City shall mail the notice of application. 

 
Finding: The applicant has met the requirements of 16.170.020 and was deemed to have 
submitted a complete application on June 16, 2015. 
 
 

CONCLUSIONS 

 
The Planning Commission is considering approval of the Minor Land Partition Request for 
the Verboort property on Gordon Road.  

 
Staff recommends approval of the application with conditions of approval outlined below. 

 

CONDITIONS  OF   APPROVAL  

 

 
Prior to Final Plat approval, the Applicant shall:  
 

1. Submit a master plan for development which shows the development potential 
for both parcels in the R-2.5 zone.  This master plan should show the total number 
of lots possible from each parcel as well as access/circulation/connectivity.  This 
master plan shall be included in the official record of this land use decision. 

 
2. Submit documentation of easements adequate to allow the owner of the parcel 

with the existing home to access the septic system on the other parcel.  Obtain 
the City’s approval of this documentation prior to plat recording. 
 

3. Submit for review and approval a partition plat consistent with the proposed 
plans, but revised to show an 8-foot Public Utility Easement (PUE) along the 
frontage of both NW North Avenue and NW Gordon Road. 
 

4. Submit to the City a signed waiver of remonstrance against future creation of a 
Local Improvement District for the construction of sidewalks on Gordon Road and 
North Avenue. 
 

5. Obtain approval of the Public Improvement Plans and construct all public 
improvements or adequately guarantee completion of public improvements 
consistent with Development Code Section 16.145.120. 

 
Prior to Issuance of Building Permits, the Applicant shall: 
 

1. Submit building permit applications which identify: 
A. Structure placement in compliance with sections 16.30.015.D-FStructure 

height in compliance with section 16.30.015.H, ensuring that the building 
height does not exceed 35 feet or two and a half stories, whichever is less. 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 69 of 101



File 15-037 Verboort Gordon Road Minor Land Partition Page 15 

 

B. Lot coverage in compliance with section 16.30.015.I, ensuring that the 
maximum lot coverage for impervious surfaces does not exceed 65%. 

C. The front building elevations of any single-family residences in compliance 
with section 16.30.025, ensuring that at least two of the required design 
features are provided. 

D. Compliance with access spacing standards found in Section 16.150.010.O of 
the North Plains Development Code. 

 
2. Obtain Clean Water Services approval of storm drainage for any new construction. 

 
3. Obtain City approval to connect to the public sewer system or obtain a permit to 

construct a new septic system to serve the site, if public sewer is not available. 
 

4. Obtain City approval to connect to the public water system or obtain a permit to 
construct a new well to serve the site, if public water is not available. 

 
Ongoing Conditions: 
 

1. An 8' public utility easement should be located across all lot and tract frontages 

adjacent to public right-of-way. 

 

2.  Applicant shall comply with Washington County Fire District No. 2 regarding 

hydrant locations and other district requirements. 

 

3. Applicant shall comply with the development standards of the City Zoning and 

Development Code Chapter 16.30 R-2.5 High-Density Residential.  

4. Applicant shall comply with City Zoning and Development Code Chapter 

16.130.020 Process for Final Partition Approval. 

 

5. All conditions of approval must be completed within one year of the date of this 

approval or the approval is void, unless specifically modified by an approved 

phased construction schedule, approval of an extension, or unless the 

applicant/owners provides assurances otherwise. 

 

6. Prior to obtaining approval to begin construction of any public improvements, the 

applicant/owner shall provide a performance bond to the City in the amount of 125% 

of the total cost of such construction.  Upon completion of all public 

improvements, the applicant/owner shall provide a maintenance bond to the City, 

in the amount of 40% of the total cost of such construction, guaranteeing said 

improvements for a period of one (1) year following City acceptance of said 

improvements. Comply with the recommended conditions of the Public Works 

Director. 

 

7. Street lights on city local streets shall be installed as per IES standards and the 

PGE “Acorn” fixture.  The developer is to contact PGE outdoor Lighting services 

503-844-5361. 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 70 of 101



File 15-037 Verboort Gordon Road Minor Land Partition Page 16 

 

 

8. All utilities shall be constructed underground. 

 

9.  The applicant/owners shall have a licensed land surveyor prepare a Final Plat of 

the proposed partition and submit it to the City for City approval, and then record 

it with the Washington County Surveyor’s Office and County Clerk’s Office. The 

applicant/owners shall then send a copy of the recorded Plat to the City Recorder. 

 

10. The applicant/owners agree to waive their right to remonstrate against the 

formation of a local improvement district or other mechanism to construct future 

improvements to the streets, storm water, water and sewer systems that may be 

assessed against the subject property. 

 

11. Prior to City approval of the final partition plat for the subject property, the 

applicant/owners shall sign and record a Development Agreement with the City, 

covering all of the conditions of approval and pay all fees. 

 

12. The applicant shall be responsible for reimbursing the City for the reasonable costs 

associated with inspection of public works improvements. 

 

13. It shall be the responsibility of the Developer or his representative to coordinate all 

design requirements with the appropriate agencies and utilities.  In addition to the 

City of North Plains, Clean Water Services (CWS) must review and approve the 

proposed sanitary sewer /storm water sewer improvements.  Also, the Fire District 

must review and approve the site plan for emergency access vehicles. Approval 

must be obtained in written form and any coordination work with all agencies shall 

be the Developers sole responsibility.  Documentation of all written approvals and 

permits from affected agencies should be provided to the City for their records. 

 

14.  Approved plans do not guarantee the adequacy of the design, or guarantee that 

there will not be any design conflicts during construction. The design engineer 

should be notified of any design conflicts that are noted during construction and 

he/she should then immediately notify the City of North Plains. Modifications to the 

design must be approved by the City of North Plains and the appropriate Agency 

prior to continuing with any relevant construction activities. 

 

15. After Planning Commission review the Applicant must submit separate 

construction plans that meet all Conditions of Approval, City of North Plains 

Public Works Design Standards, 1990 APWA Standard Specifications for Public 

Works Construction with August 1996 revisions, and Clean Water Services to the 

City for review and approval.  Prior to the start of construction the plans must be 

approved by the City and all City and Agency permits must be obtained. 

 
 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 71 of 101



File 15-037 Verboort Gordon Road Minor Land Partition Page 17 

 

 
 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 72 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 73 of 101

mreh
Typewritten Text
File No.15-037



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 74 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 75 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 76 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 77 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 78 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 79 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 80 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 81 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 82 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 83 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 84 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 85 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 86 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 87 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 88 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 89 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 90 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 91 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 92 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 93 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 94 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 95 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 96 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 97 of 101



 
TO:  North Plains Planning Commission       

FROM:  Heather Austin, AICP, Consulting Land Use Planner 

DATE:  July 20, 2015 

RE:  City File # 14-014 McKay Creek Crossing Subdivision-  

Proposed Street Name 

 

ISSUE: 

AKS Engineering & Forestry, LLC submitted an application to the City requesting the street name of “NW 
Bartlett Loop” for the new street in the McKay Creek Crossing Subdivision (File #14-014).  The submitted 
materials are included with this memo. 

The original subdivision submittal listed the name “NW McKay Creek Loop”, but this was determined to 
be too similar to another name in North Plains. 

Section 16.150.010.I of the North Plains Development Code lists the Planning Commission as the review 
and approval body for street naming.   
 
RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve the name of “NW Bartlett Loop” for the new 
residential street in the McKay Creek Crossing Subdivision.  Alternatively, the applicant has listed “NW 
Creekside Loop” as a second choice of street name. 

 

 

____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 98 of 101



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 99 of 101

mreh
Typewritten Text
0



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 100 of 101

mreh
Typewritten Text
05/21/2015

mreh
Typewritten Text
0.00

mreh
Typewritten Text
14-014

mreh
Typewritten Text
Approved by Heather Austin-3J



____________________________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA PACKET 

Special Session - Monday, July 27, 2015 
Packet Pagination: Page 101 of 101


	5A 072715 Special Session Planning Commission Agenda
	5B 051315 RS Planning Commission Minutes
	6A Jewett-Cameron Industrial Building- Staff Report to NP PC
	6A Land Use Appl Design Review Zaronsinski Jewett Cameron
	6A1 15-036 Jewett-Cameron Land Use Permit-Commercial Application
	6A2 Jewett-Cameron Diagrams and drawings Warehouse project landscape orientation
	6A3 Narrative Statement For Jewett Cameron
	6B Verboort Gordon Road Partition Staff Report to NP PC
	6B Land Use Application Laurie Verboort Partition
	6B1 Narrative Minor Land Partition 11440 Gordon Road
	6B2 MAP Land Partition 11440 Gordon Road
	7A Memo Street Naming McKay Creek to Bartlet
	7A Road Name Request Bartlett in McKay Creek Crossing Signed Application-
	7A Street Naming MAP McKay Creek to Bartlet



